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Financial Highlights
(DOLLAR

AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Year Ended December 31,

Sales

2004

2003

2002

$6,594

$5,613

$5,128

Operating profit

$1,103

$ 922

$ 923

Net income (a)

$ 697

$ 585

$ 409

Diluted earnings per share (a)

$ 2.10

$ 1.77

$ 1.24

Cash flow from operations

$1,243

$1,137

$1,001

Capital expenditures

$ 668

$ 983

$ 498

Other Information and Ratios
(b)

After-tax return on capital (c)

12.5%

12.8%

13.4%

Return on equity

20.8%

21.6%

22.8%

(c)

(a)

Net income and diluted earnings per share for 2002 include a charge related to the adoption of SFAS No. 142 of $139 million, or $0.42 per share.
Additionally, diluted earnings per share for 2002 have been adjusted to reflect the December 15, 2003 two-for-one stock split. See Notes 1 and 2 to
the consolidated financial statements..

(b)

Capital expenditures for 2003 include the purchase of previously leased assets for $339 million (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

(c)

After-tax return on capital and return on equity are non-GAAP measures defined and reconciled in the Appendix on page 68. After-tax return on capital
was reduced by 0.4% in 2003 and 1.4% in 2004 by the purchase of leased assets in 2003 and the German Acquisition in 2004 (see Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements).
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According to a number of criteria,
Praxair has outperformed
the Standard & Poor’s 500 over
a 10-year period.
Sales

(10-year compound annual growth rate)

9%

Praxair

7%

S&P 500

Earnings

(10-year compound annual growth rate)

13%

Praxair

11%

S&P 500

Return on Equity
(10-year average)

21%

Praxair
S&P 500

14%
Total Shareholder Return
(10-year compound annual growth rate)

17%

Praxair
S&P 500

12%
Source: Based on Standard & Poor’s Investment Services
information and company data.

To Our Shareholders
I am very pleased with the Praxair team’s performance in 2004. Sales and
operating proﬁt were higher in every geographic region. Net income
and diluted earnings per share rose 19%. Total shareholder return on Praxair
stock was up 17.3% compared to the Standard & Poor’s 500 return of
11%. Once again, Praxair’s total shareholder return exceeded that of most
industrial companies.
In addition to a recovering economy in the U.S., many factors account
for the strength of these numbers: innovative technologies, reliable supply to
customers, accurate and timely invoices, efﬁcient plants, top-notch logistics,
savvy contract negotiations, effective teamwork. Volume and pricing achieved
an underlying growth rate of 11% compared to global GDP growth of 4%
in 2004.
What brings all of these factors together is disciplined execution,
an uncompromising dedication to getting it right the ﬁrst time, every time.
We’re not totally there everywhere yet, but I believe we have made great
strides over the last couple of years. Our 2004 personnel safety record is the
best in our history. We’ve been smart about spending capital. Plant reliability
is up. Six Sigma methodologies are permeating the organization. We’re gaining
more business and losing a lot less.
And the outside world is noticing. Praxair was again chosen as a
component of the Dow Jones Sustainability Index, recognizing our leadership
against a wide range of social, economic and environmental criteria.
And for the third consecutive time, Praxair received the highest rating from
GovernanceMetrics International, a leading independent governance ratings
agency. Only 26 companies out of a total of 2,588 companies worldwide
received the top rating in the latest cycle, and only four have received the top
score in three consecutive ratings.
I believe we are well positioned to sustain this strong performance
in the years ahead. Let me highlight several activities that will generate growth
for Praxair. Healthcare sales worldwide were up 26%, due in part to the
acquisition of Home Care Supply, the largest privately-held home respiratory
and medical equipment provider in the U.S. Such selective acquisitions
are providing geographic density that will assist Praxair in becoming a premier
provider of respiratory services from the hospital to the home. This business
should enjoy rapid growth as demographic shifts and other factors increase
demand for our services.
For the energy market, we started up the largest plant construction
projects in Praxair’s history — two new hydrogen plants on the U.S. Gulf Coast.
These plants are meeting the growing demand for hydrogen from oil-reﬁning
customers who must comply with new clean-fuel regulations. We also
increased our nitrogen and carbon dioxide capacity in response to a surge
in demand from oil and gas production companies in the U.S. and Canadian
Rockies.
Praxair Electronics completed a major upgrade of four advanced
components facilities in North America. We have established a leadership
position as a one-stop provider of high-margin advanced materials,
consumables and supply-chain services.
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Clockwise from left. James S. Sawyer,
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Ofﬁcer, Stephen F. Angel, Executive Vice
President, Ricardo S. Malﬁtano, Senior
Vice President and Dennis H. Reilley,
Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer.
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Several new projects started up in China during the year, and we

2004 Sales by Business Segment

signed a new contract to supply the new $4.3-billion integrated petrochemical
complex on Daya Bay in Guangdong Province. Gaining this business required
effective collaboration among expert team members across different parts
of the Praxair organization. Returns on our businesses in China have reached
12%, reﬂecting good cost management and excellent project execution.
We also are positioned for future growth in India, where we are working with
world-class companies such as Tata Steel and Saint-Gobain.
We strengthened our presence in Western Europe by acquiring
industrial gases businesses in Germany, including two pipeline systems
serving major reﬁning, petrochemical and steel customers. This is a
high-quality business that plays to our core competencies, and our team
is well along in implementing plans for a swift and smooth integration.
We are excited about the prospects of our joint venture in Brazil with
Petrobras, the state-owned oil company, to expand access to liqueﬁed natural

•
•
•
•
•

North America 61%
South America 13%
Europe 12%
Asia 7%
Surface Technologies 7%

gas (LNG) for public and private transportation and industrial customers.
Our subsidiary, White Martins, will build Brazil’s ﬁrst LNG plant and use its

���������������������������������

expertise in cryogenic storage and transportation to deliver LNG to locations
that are far away from existing pipelines.
By any measure — on-time performance, reliability, cost, safety — our
global engineering organization has developed a competitive advantage for us
in designing and constructing production facilities around the world. We are
in the process of expanding our standardized plant portfolio in order to further
leverage our expertise in this area.
Before closing, I want to report the retirement of two of our board
members, Alejandro Achaval and Benjamin Payton. Both have served since
1992 and I would like to express my sincere appreciation to both for their
constructive counsel over the years. We welcomed two new board members,
Robert Wood of Crompton Corporation and formerly business group president
at Dow Chemical, and Ira Hall, formerly chief executive ofﬁcer of Utendahl
Capital Management and, prior to that, treasurer of Texaco Inc.
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In summary, your company had a very good year in 2004, and I believe
we have set in motion what it takes to further sharpen our competitive edge

2004 Sales by Markets Served

in 2005 and beyond. The organization has embraced the disciplines of
Six Sigma, cost management and high-return investments. We are winning
new business, and more and more of our projects are being executed
ﬂawlessly — on schedule, on budget and to the immense satisfaction of our
customers. We all have a sense of urgency about anticipating stakeholder
expectations — and then exceeding them.

DENNIS H. REILLEY

Chairman, President & Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
February 21, 2005
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Aerospace 4%
Chemicals 10%
Electronics 7%
Energy 12%
Food & Beverage 7%
Healthcare 11%
Manufacturing 21%
Metals 16%
Other 12%

A relentless focus on ﬂawless
execution underpins a business model
that generates shareholder value.
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High-return growth is achieved

Sales in 2004 were up 17% while

through innovative applications

operating proﬁt rose 20%. A combina-

technologies and services that add

tion of smart procurement practices,

value to the molecules we supply;

reduced energy consumption and

rigorous attention to operational

distribution efﬁciencies, and more

efﬁciency; and smart negotiation of

than 800 Six Sigma projects contrib-

commercial terms and pricing.

uted to cost savings of $145 million.
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Capital Discipline
HYDROGEN

CAPACITY

DOUBLED

The largest construction project in Praxair’s history – two new hydrogen plants
in Texas – started up in mid-2004 to supply reﬁnery customers along Praxair’s
340-mile-long pipeline. The new plants doubled Praxair’s hydrogen capacity on
the U.S. Gulf Coast. Demand for Praxair’s hydrogen on the Gulf Coast is
expected to grow 20 percent annually through 2010 due to more stringent limits
on sulfur content in motor fuels; the need to process crude oil containing
higher levels of sulfur; the role hydrogen can play in expanding existing reﬁning
capacity; increased processing of tar sands in Canada; and new regulatory
requirements for locomotives, off-road vehicles and marine engines scheduled to
be implemented later in the decade. Praxair expects to announce new contracts
in 2005 which will require construction of additional hydrogen capacity.

OPERATIONS

REVIEW

A combination of rigorous operational

to recover during 2004.
A key highlight of the year, which

work were the lowest in Praxair’s
history. This is a tribute to the focus

discipline and innovative marketing

dramatically illustrates broad-based

and uncompromising dedication that

by the Praxair team positioned the

discipline in our operations, was safety

employee teams have brought to

company for accelerated growth as

performance. The rates of recordable

this area in order to achieve sustainable

economies in our key geographic

injuries and of injuries serious enough to

improvement. We are determined

markets around the world continued

cause employees to stay home from

to maintain this momentum into 2005.
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Ongoing improvement in the

uted almost half of those savings as

increasingly working jointly with

efﬁciency of our systems and processes

implementation of this methodology

customers on Six Sigma projects,

was another signiﬁcant achievement

continued to spread across all Praxair

reinforcing our ability as a supplier to

during the year. Employees in business

businesses. By year-end, more than

bring greater value to the partnership

operations, procurement and production

2,300 employees had received

and cementing long-term relationships.

were able to reduce costs by about

Six Sigma training and 800 projects

$145 million. Six Sigma teams contrib-

had been implemented. We are

Through innovative sourcing
arrangements with low-cost suppliers,
7

partnerships with equipment fabricators,

improving safety performance, reliability,

and advanced production technologies,

on-time delivery and energy efﬁciency.

multi-million-dollar plant renovation in

our plant-construction and R&D teams

Since 1996, costs of standard cryo-

northern Ohio that features automated

have built a competitive cost advantage

genic and non-cryogenic plant offerings

ﬁlling of gas cylinders across a broad

for Praxair. Over the past ﬁve years,

have dropped more than 20% while

range of products. The upgraded facility

this group has handled a substantially

the range and efﬁciency of the product

is designed to improve productivity

larger workload while steadily

line has signiﬁcantly expanded.

and safety, and to lower costs.
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Praxair Distribution completed a

Complementing a strong base
business, Praxair has ample long-term
growth opportunities in hydrogen,
healthcare, electronics and China.

2004 Sales Growth
38%

Hydrogen

26%

Healthcare
Electronics
China

18%
27%

Sales in all four target markets were up

Praxair Electronics sales in higher-margin

substantially in 2004. The startup of two

materials sciences and supply-chain

new hydrogen plants on the U.S. Gulf

services have grown to almost half of our

Coast in 2004 is meeting the demand for

total sales to the semiconductor industry.

cleaner-burning fuels. An acquisition

In China, we have formed partnerships

propelled Praxair to the fourth-largest

with global customers who are leading

home healthcare provider in the U.S.

development in three industrial corridors.
9

Flawless Execution
RAPID

INTEGRATION

OF

HEALTHCARE

ACQUISITION

Healthcare sales worldwide rose 26% in 2004, reﬂecting both organic growth
and the acquisition of Home Care Supply, one of the largest home care companies
in the U.S., with 59 locations in 13 states. The acquisition doubled the U.S.
home care business, gave Praxair Healthcare Services coverage in most major
markets, and established a strong platform which can be leveraged to win national
and regional managed-care contracts. A 15-member team is ahead of schedule
in swiftly integrating the business, converting former Home Care Supply locations
to the Praxair brand, melding order and billing systems, merging service centers
and logistics, and standardizing policies and procedures. In the photograph,
healthcare technicians at a former Home Care Supply location in Waltham,
Massachusetts, prepare for the day’s deliveries of respiratory oxygen and related
home healthcare equipment.

Our marketing efforts are

products. For example, a technology

in Europe. By more efﬁciently deploying

beneﬁting from greater collaboration

used for glass production, ﬁrst commer-

the knowledge and know-how

among global networks, allowing us to

cialized in Germany, is now being

already in-house, we expect to signiﬁ-

leverage expertise in different parts of

applied by customers in North and

cantly improve returns on our R&D

the organization in order to speed the

South America; another technology

activity while gaining new business in

introduction of new product offerings as

being used by aluminum producers in

the marketplace.

well as gain new customers for existing

Italy is being introduced elsewhere
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Many avenues of growth

clean-fuel requirements of the U.S.

These plants were brought on stream

Increased sales and operating-proﬁt

Environmental Protection Agency.

on time and under budget, using a new

growth in our North American

To meet this demand, Praxair started

work process designed speciﬁcally

businesses reﬂected strong demand

up two new hydrogen plants on the

for large projects.

from customers across all major

U.S. Gulf Coast to supply BP and

markets. Oil reﬁners are using increas-

Motiva as well as other customers along

the development of fuel cells, which

ing amounts of hydrogen to meet

Praxair’s 340-mile hydrogen pipeline.

many hope will provide cleaner fuels for

Hydrogen also plays a key role in
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motor vehicles as well as stationery

hydrogen supply system, based on

a backup power source for the power-

electricity generation. In October,

on-site electrolysis. The station will be

generation market. The pilot applications

Governor Schwartzenegger of California

used initially by the airport’s vehicle

are a step toward the development

helped dedicate a new, retail-friendly

ﬂeet powered by fuel cells. In a related

of codes and standards necessary to

hydrogen-fueling station at Los Angeles

project, Praxair Canada is working with

commercialize fuel cells.

International Airport. BP designed the

Ballard Power Systems and others

station and Praxair provided the on-site

to demonstrate the use of fuel cells as
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Oil and gas producers have
stepped up activity in response to

Praxair focuses on 11 core geographic
markets where we have, or are quickly
developing, a proﬁtable, high-return
competitive advantage.

United
States
Canada

Mexico

Spain

Brazil

Italy

India

Germany/
Benelux

Thailand

China

South
Korea

During 2004, Praxair established a

gases company with an unrivaled

new core geography by acquiring two

network. A developing liqueﬁed natural

pipeline complexes in Germany, near

gas business will extend Praxair’s

the western border with Belgium where

leadership in Brazil, and sales in Asia

Praxair is expanding another pipeline

increased 25% in 2004, primarily

enclave. In North America, Praxair is the

in China, where Praxair is the leading

only major, fully integrated industrial

industrial gas supplier.
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Operational Discipline
T R A N S F O R M I N G I N D U S T R Y ’ S 5 0 -Y E A R - O L D D I S T R I B U T I O N M O D E L

St. Louis, Missouri, is just one of many locations undergoing radical change at
Praxair Distribution, our North American packaged gases business. State-of-the-art
software tools and redesigned work processes are transforming the way products
are delivered, increasing efﬁciency and reducing costs for Praxair, while improving
on-time performance for customers. New standardized, cost-effective routes
reduce overlap and the number of miles each driver must travel. That means fewer
delivery vehicles are needed, and ﬂeets are being better sized to meet customer
requirements. On-board, hand-held computers free drivers from paperwork while
improving accuracy in product tracking and billing. Over the past two years,
dispatching locations have been reduced by half, as each dispatcher now has the
tools to handle more vehicles. At the same time, we are better positioned to offer
premium service to customers who are willing to pay for it.

higher oil and natural gas prices. Praxair

under pressure in order to fracture

is investing in new nitrogen and carbon

the rock formations which releases

dioxide capacity, particularly for custom-

underground oil and gas. About 950

during 2004 could be seen in higher

ers in the Rocky Mountain area of the

tons per day of nitrogen capacity was

Praxair Distribution sales to metal

U.S. and Canada, to help them improve

added at two plants in Alberta, Canada,

fabrication customers. To develop new

the productivity of their wells. These

during the year. Demand for nitrogen

retail channels to market, Praxair

gases are injected into oil and gas wells

in Western Canada is expected to

Distribution signed two new agreements
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double over the next two to three years.
The upturn in industrial production

with Canadian-based companies.

Praxair’s gases and blends for welding

services at leading home-improvement

TSC Stores Ltd. will feature a Praxair

and cutting. TSC Stores caters to

centers, mass merchants, hardware,

“store-within-a-store” — a display of

farmers, small contractors and hobbyists.

grocery and convenience stores.

Praxair welding and cutting products and

Praxair Distribution also became

Customers of these services use

related equipment. In addition, a cylinder-

Blue Rhino’s exclusive independent

propane tanks to fuel outdoor barbecues,

exchange program allows customers to

distributor in six Canadian provinces,

deep fryers, patio heaters, mosquito-

exchange empty cylinders for ones full of

providing propane-cylinder exchange

eradication devices or other appliances.
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North American healthcare sales

in the U.S. The acquisition increases

costs to minimize the impact.

were up 31%, reﬂecting growing

the density of Praxair’s Northeast

demand from hospitals and healthcare

home care operation and expands our

ated itself in the highly competitive

networks across the U.S. and Canada,

presence from the Mid-Atlantic

semiconductor market by focusing on

as well as six months’ contribution from

to Texas. Anticipating reductions in

the supply of advanced materials, such

the acquisition of Home Care Supply,

Medicare reimbursement rates

as high-performance ceramic chucks,

one of the largest home care companies

in 2005, the business is reducing

and supply-chain services. During the
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Praxair Electronics has differenti-

Praxair’s applications technologies
help customers reduce their
environmental footprint and increase
energy efﬁciency.
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Praxair’s applications technologies

support Governor Schwartzenegger’s

have improved air and water quality

hydrogen highway initiative. In its

and increased energy efﬁciency

own operations, Praxair is on track

for customers in dozens of industries.

to meet its goals of reducing energy

Most recently, Praxair and BP opened

intensity* by 18% and greenhouse

a hydrogen fueling station at

gases emissions intensity by 8%

Los Angeles International Airport to

over the next 10 years.
*intensity is a per-unit-of-production measure
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Savvy Market Extension
APPLYING

TRADITIONAL

EXPERTISE

IN

A

NEW

MARKET

Taxis, buses and many private automobiles in Brazil have run on natural gas for
decades. Praxair’s subsidiary, White Martins, has a growing business producing
natural gas cylinders (page 20) and conversion kits that allow passenger vehicles
to run on natural gas. In a bid to reduce the country’s oil imports, the stateowned oil company, Petrobras, formed a joint venture with White Martins in 2004
to further increase access to natural gas, particularly at locations not currently
supplied by pipelines. White Martins will build the country’s ﬁrst liqueﬁed natural
gas plant in Sao Paulo state, and distribute product by truck. Natural gas is
liqueﬁed using a cryogenic process and its distribution requires the same kind of
specialized equipment and logistics that are currently used to deliver other
industrial gases like oxygen and nitrogen.

year, the business completed major
upgrades of four of its advanced

times and improving processing yields.
Our businesses in Europe turned

the acquisition of industrial gases
businesses in Germany, signiﬁcantly

components facilities in North America,

in another stellar performance, increasing

expanding Praxair’s presence in

strengthening its position as a single-

sales 21% across a wide range of

that country. The bulk of the new

source partner for manufacturing,

markets while at the same time keeping

businesses consists of two pipeline

anodizing and coating 200 mm and

costs under control. Operating proﬁt

complexes near the western border,

300 mm chamber parts, reducing cycle

was up 26%. A highlight of the year was

which, with an expanding pipeline
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enclave in Antwerp, Belgium, forms

allowed our South American team

a new core geography for Praxair. Once

to offset the effects of cost inﬂation and

fully integrated, the acquisition, along

increase operating proﬁt 33%. Sales

joint venture with the state-owned oil

with organic growth, will boost Praxair

increased 22%, reﬂecting strong volume

company, Petrobras, for the commercial-

Europe’s sales to about $1 billion.

growth. To provide protection from future

ization and distribution of liqueﬁed

currency ﬂuctuations, the majority of

natural gas to Brazilian locations that are

new contracts signed during the year for

not currently supplied by pipelines.

A combination of rigorous cost
controls and good price management

major projects were dollar-denominated.
In Brazil, White Martins formed a

19

White Martins has a 60% interest in

cryogenic process and its distribution

fuels, Brazil hopes to reduce imported

the venture and Petrobras the remaining

requires the same kind of logistics that

liqueﬁed petroleum gas and diesel

40%. White Martins will build the ﬁrst

are currently provided by White Martins

fuel; generate new jobs; and create new

liqueﬁed natural gas plant in Brazil, in

when delivering other industrial gases

uses for natural gas.

Sao Paulo state. The plant is scheduled

like oxygen and nitrogen. By expanding

for completion in the ﬁrst quarter of

access to liqueﬁed natural gas at

Asia were up 25%, reﬂecting strong

2006. Natural gas is liqueﬁed using a

prices that are competitive with other

demand and the startup of several
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Sales and operating proﬁt in

What brings all these factors together
is disciplined execution, an uncom–
promising dedication to getting it right
the ﬁrst time, every time.
new projects, disciplined operating

production complex at Tangjeong,

Cost reductions and improved price

procedures and ongoing cost

Korea. The ﬂat-panel facility will require

management also contributed to the

management. Our strategy of establish-

about 10 times more helium and similar

stronger performance.

ing partnerships with the ranking

quantities of hydrogen compared to

companies in target industries across

process gas consumption of a typical

leader in introducing new technologies

the region gained momentum during

semiconductor fab. Praxair also will

that offer customers quality, efﬁciency,

the year.

supply future requirements of nitrogen,

environmental and cost-reduction

oxygen, and argon to the Samsung site.

beneﬁts. In 2004, a contract to install

Under an agreement signed in
August, Praxair will supply CSPC,

Under a separate agreement,

Praxair has long been an industry

Praxair’s patented CoJet® gas-injection

a joint venture between China National

Praxair will supply ultra-high-purity

system at the ﬁrst European basic-

Offshore Oil Corporation and Shell

nitrogen to Samsung Electronics’ new

oxygen-furnace steel mill was signed

Petrochemicals Company Limited,

manufacturing facility in Hwasung,

with ThyssenKrupp Stahl AG, one of

with oxygen and nitrogen at the new,

Korea. And we completed construction

the world’s largest integrated steel

$4.3-billion integrated petrochemical

of a third air separation plant at our

producers. The CoJet system provides

complex on Daya Bay in Guangdong

complex in Gihueng, Korea. Praxair

signiﬁcant metallurgical and productivity

Province. Praxair will build two new

is the largest nitrogen supplier to

beneﬁts. The technology is fully

air separation plants for the project,

Samsung’s semiconductor wafer

implemented on three basic-oxygen

scheduled to start up in 2005.

manufacturing complexes in Giheung

furnaces at Usiminas and Cosipa in

When combined with its two existing

and Hwasung.

Brazil, and on another three furnaces at

Praxair air separation plants in northern

In Taiwan, three manufacturers

U.S. Steel. Our licensing agreements

Guangdong, the new facilities form

of light-emitting diodes (LEDs) signed

are designed to allow Praxair to share in

an unparalleled supply capability in the

contracts with Praxair Chemax

the savings achieved by customers as

rapidly developing province.

Semiconductor Materials Co. Ltd.,

a result of this technology. Expansion of

a joint venture between Praxair and

the technology into integrated steel

plant that will supply Tata Steel’s

China Petrochemical Development

mills is an extension of the success the

expanded operations in eastern India

Corp., to supply specialty-gas delivery

CoJet system has enjoyed in the smaller

is scheduled to start up in the second

systems for their fabs. Praxair Chemax

electric arc furnace (or “mini-mill”)

quarter of 2005. New contracts

has established a leading position

steel segment where it is installed at

were signed during 2004 to supply

as a supplied to the rapidly growing

80 furnaces.

Hospet Steel, Saint-Gobain and

LED market. LEDs are used in trafﬁc

Owens Corning.

signals, in television screens and remote

In India, an air separation

The Praxair Korea team won
signiﬁcant new business at one of the
world’s premier electronics companies

controls, and in electronics backlighting,
among other applications.
Praxair Surface Technologies

during the year. Praxair Electronics will

sales and operating proﬁt were up over

supply helium and hydrogen by pipeline

2003 levels as demand for industrial

to Samsung Electronics’ newest

and aviation coatings strengthened and

thin-ﬁlm transistor-liquid crystal display

the stronger euro boosted results.
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Market Profiles
In addition to the offerings highlighted in this table, Praxair supplies the full range of atmospheric, process and specialty gases, as well
as a comprehensive portfolio of supply systems tailored to customers’ needs. (The 12% of sales not covered below is generated in a
variety of smaller markets.)
MARKETS
AEROSPACE

PRAXAIR

Aircraft manufacture & operation

Spacecraft & aircraft

ELECTRONICS

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Full range of cryogens, propellants & gases
Electric-propulsion system gases
Cryogenic fuel-densiﬁcation systems
Metal-joining technology, supplies & services
Temporary & permanent supply systems
High-pressure systems
Site-gas & utility-management services
Safety training
Investment-reducing facility leases
On-board oxygen membrane systems
Membrane nitrogen for fuel-tank inerting, ﬁlling tires & struts, pressurizing
Nitrogen-enriched air systems
Refrigeration systems for fuel conditioning
High-performance surface coatings
Engine and air frame component overhaul and repair services

– Single source for gases & delivery systems
– Reduced costs

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Single source for gases & delivery systems
Enhanced safety
Experience with FAA inerting standards
Reduced costs
Extended product life
Increased productivity
Reduced costs
Higher operating temperatures & increased
fuel efﬁciency

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Site-gas management services
Environmental solutions for wastewater, VOC’s & solid-waste streams
Productivity solutions
Maintenance & repair gases & equipment
Clean dry-air systems
Utility management; co-generation
Pipeline & plant services
Specialty gases for process control & analytical applications; specialty gas delivery equipment
Cryogenic gases, dry ice & equipment for biological samples shipment & storage
Low-temperature process refrigeration
Ultra-pure instrument & process gases
Supercritical extraction materials
High-accuracy traceable calibration mixtures

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Reliable supply
Increased productivity
Environmental compliance
Lower production & maintenance costs
Consistent product quality
Improved safety
Fast, safe turnarounds
Longer equipment life
Sample preservation
FDA compliance
Single source for gases, delivery systems,
materials & related services

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Full line of ultra-high-purity process gases
Physical vapor deposition (PVD) sputtering targets & reclamation services
Computer disk & chemical mechanical planarization (CMP) slurries & polishing pads & belts
Chemical vapor deposition (CVP) precursors
Design & installation of advanced bulk & on-site production systems
High-ﬂow bulk specialty-gas delivery systems
Analytical systems & services
Electrostatic chucks
Performance coatings
Chamber components spare parts

– Single source for gases, delivery systems,
materials & related services
– Global distribution, local expertise
– Lower total cost of ownership
– Improved productivity, enhanced technology
– Reduced environmental impact
– Reliable supply

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Integrated supply-chain management
Extensive hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen pipeline systems
Specialty gases for process control & analytical applications
Hydrogen & energy optimization & system management services
Pipeline & plant services
Tank leak detection
Maintenance & repair gases & equipment
Utility management; co-generation
Wastewater treatment gases & equipment
Mobile nitrogen pumping services
Foam fracturing applications
Cryogenic nitrogen injection & rejection services
Portable enhanced coal bed methane recovery systems
Carbon dioxide rejection
Clean dry air systems
Oxygen-enhanced combustion technology
Hydrogen cooling systems for turbine generators

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Reliable supply
Environmental compliance
Lower energy & hydrogen operating costs
Increased yield
Reduced losses
Improved product quality
Lower maintenance costs
Longer equipment life

–
–
–
–

Reliable supply
Environmental compliance
Increased yield
Lower maintenance costs

7% of total sales

Semiconductor fabrication
Process consumables

Fab infrastructure & services
Process tool solutions

12% of total sales

Petroleum Reﬁning

Oil & Gas Production & Recovery

Utility & industrial boilers
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BENEFITS

10% of total sales

Biotechnology/Life sciences/
Pharmaceutical

ENERGY

CUSTOMER

4% of total sales

Spacecraft manufacture & launch

CHEMICALS

OFFERINGS

– Environmental compliance
– Lower nitrogen oxide emissions

MARKETS
ENERGY

PRAXAIR

–
–
–
–
–

Utility & industrial boilers (continued)

FOOD

AND

BEVERAGE

CUSTOMER

BENEFITS

HEALTHCARE

Nuclear reactor cooling water systems
Water treatment with oxygen & carbon dioxide
Nitrogen inerting
Laser-cladding of waterwall panels
Specialty gases for process control and analytical applications

– Reduced costs
– Longer equipment life

7% of total sales
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Food laboratory testing services & data resource center
Complete line of cryogenic freezers
Equipment design & development
New ultra-performance cryogenic refrigeration technology
Produce-washing & disinfection technology
Beverage-carbonation services
Modiﬁed-atmosphere packaging systems
Patented & proprietary applications technologies
Wastewater-treatment gases & equipment

–
–
–
–
–
–

Improved food safety & product quality
Flavor preservation
Extended shelf life
Increased productivity
Enhanced yield savings
Improved distribution efﬁciencies

– Home oxygen therapy via stationary oxygen concentrators & liquid systems, with high-pressure
cylinder back-up
– Continuity of care from hospital to home
– Sleep apnea equipment & treatment
– Durable medical equipment - wheelchairs, hospital beds, walkers & canes, patient lift devices, bathroom aids
– Home-respiratory medication program
– Advanced respiratory services - respirator ventilators & tracheostomy care
– Grab ‘n Go ® advanced respiratory systems
– Medipure® gases & related equipment
– Laboratory gases & environmental services
– Cryogenic gases, dry ice & equipment for biological shipment & storage, dermatology & magnetic
resonance imaging (MRI)
– Magnet services for MRIs
– Site gas-management services
– Design & installation of piping & related equipment
– Preparation of third-party compliance audits; compliance training & certiﬁcation

–
–
–
–
–

Life-saving treatment
Physical comfort
Home environment
Reduced costs (vs. hospital stay)
Highly trained healthcare professionals

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Welding & cutting application technologies
Laser, robotics & automation expertise
StarSolver ® productivity-enhancement program
Membrane-supply technology
Gases, equipment, consumables & accessories
Safety products
Technical support & training
Gas-supply optimization & site gas-management services
E-business capabilities
Protective atmospheres in furnaces
Automated gas-control systems
Technical support, process & safety information
Oxygen-enhanced combustion technologies
Atmospheres for ﬂoat glass
Furnace design & waste-heat-recovery technologies
Patented I-SO ™ technology
Gases & equipment for pH control
Mixﬂo™ wastewater treatment system
Oxidative extraction
Oxygen deligniﬁcation
Brownstock washing with carbon dioxide
Wastewater treatment with oxygen and carbon dioxide
Lime kiln enrichment with oxygen
Anilox thermal-spray-coated production & restoration for corrugated, wide & narrow web, & newspaper
ﬂexographic, offset & gravure printing
– Thermal-spray equipment, powders, wires & spare parts

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Increased productivity
Lower overall costs
Improved product quality
Environmental compliance
Increased safety
Reduced rework
Extended equipment life
Access to technical expertise

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Improved product quality
Reduced costs
Improved reliability
Environmental compliance – lower nitrogen
oxide emissions
Lower energy consumption
Higher treatment rates
Reduced VOC emissions
Improved process control & peak shaving
Environmental compliance
Improved product quality
Increased productivity

–
–
–
–

Longer service life
Reduced downtime
Increased productivity
Improved print quality

– Process analysis
– Gases & energy management
– CoJet ® gas-injection, AOD™ argon-oxygen decarburization & other patented & proprietary technologies
for steel, stainless steel & aluminum production & process control
– Nitrogen technologies for cold curing, protective atmospheres, inerting & desulfurization
– Waste-management systems
– Welding technologies & gases
– Advanced coatings chemistries

–
–
–
–
–

Reliable supply
Improved efﬁciency
Improved product quality
Reduced costs
Extended product life

11% of total sales

Home care

Hospitals

MANUFACTURING

Metal Fabrication

Heat Treating
Glass
Water Treatment
Pulp and Paper

Printing rolls

METALS

OFFERINGS

(continued)

– Single source for medical gases, equipment
& services from hospital to home
– Improved efﬁciency & productivity
– Reduced costs
– Consistent product quality

21% of total sales

16% of total sales
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Consolidated Statements of Income
PRAXAIR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(DOLLAR

AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

$6,594

$5,613

$5,128

3,987

3,328

2,950

Selling, general and administrative

869

766

751

Depreciation and amortization

578

517

483

Research and development

77

75

69

Other income (expenses) – net

20

(5)

48

Sales
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization

1,103

922

923

Interest expense – net

155

151

206

Income Before Taxes

948

771

717

Income taxes

232

174

158

716

597

559

(30)

(24)

(20)

11

12

9

697

585

—

—

$ 697

$ 585

$ 409

$ 2.14

$ 1.79

$ 1.68

—

—

$ 2.14

$ 1.79

$ 1.26

$ 2.10

$ 1.77

$ 1.66

—

—

$ 2.10

$ 1.77

$ 1.24

Basic shares outstanding

325,891

326,388

325,536

Diluted shares outstanding

331,403

330,991

329,489

Operating Profit

Minority interests
Income from equity investments
Income Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net Income

548
(139)

Per Share Data (Note 1)
Basic earnings per share
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net income

(0.42)

Diluted earnings per share
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net income

(0.42)

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (000’s) (Note 1)

The accompanying Notes on pages 43 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
PRAXAIR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(DOLLAR

AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

December 31,

2004

2003

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable

25

$

50

1,231

962

Inventories

328

302

Prepaid and other current assets

160

135

1,744

1,449

5,946

5,252

210

182

Total Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment – net
Equity investments
Goodwill

1,551

1,075

Other intangible assets

88

56

Other long-term assets

339

291

$ 9,878

$ 8,305

$

$

Total Assets
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable

502

413

Short-term debt

454

Current portion of long-term debt

195

22

Accrued taxes

129

104

Other current liabilities

595

445

1,875

1,117

Total Current Liabilities
Long-term debt

133

2,876

2,661

Other long-term liabilities

949

916

Deferred credits

345

328

6,045

5,022

225

195

Total Liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 20)
Minority interests
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock $0.01 par value, authorized 2004–800,000,000 shares and
2003–500,000,000 shares, issued 2004–359,790,504 shares and
2003–354,951,262 shares
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings

4

4

2,314

2,148

3,529

3,027

(1,180)

(1,352)

2003–28,865,414 shares)

(1,059)

(739)

Total Shareholders’ Equity

3,608

3,088

Total Liabilities and Equity

$ 9,878

$ 8,305

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Less: Treasury stock, at cost (2004– 36,169,726 shares and

The accompanying Notes on pages 43 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
PRAXAIR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(MILLIONS

OF DOLLARS)

Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Operations
Net income

$ 697

$

585

$

409

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities
Accounting change
Depreciation and amortization

—

—

139

578

517

483

Deferred income taxes

89

33

37

Non-cash charges (benefits) and other

11

21

3

(203)

(96)

6

(24)

(22)

4

6

Working capital
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Payables and accruals
Long-term assets, liabilities and other
Net cash provided by operating activities

(19)

4

153

78

(41)

(64)

40

(43)

1,137

1,243

1,001

Investing
Capital expenditures (Note 5)

(668)

(983)

(498)

Acquisitions (Note 3)

(929)

(73)

(113)

45

64

24

(1,552)

(992)

(587)

(113)

(94)

Divestitures and asset sales
Net cash used for investing activities
Financing
Short-term debt borrowings (repayments) – net

67

Long-term debt borrowings

924

1,432

1,116

Long-term debt repayments

(145)

(1,295)

(1,428)

Minority interest transactions and other

(5)

(8)

27

Issuances of common stock

212

Purchases of common stock

(394)

(271)

(276)

Cash dividends

(195)

(149)

(123)

281

(136)

(411)

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning-of-year
Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-year

246

206

3

2

(3)

(25)

11

–

50

39

39

25

$

50

Taxes paid

$ 154

$

109

$

65

Interest paid

$ 156

$

168

$

210

Tax benefits from stock option exercises

$

28

$

24

$

23

Debt from consolidation of equity companies (Note 14)

$

—

$

9

$

–

$

$

39

Supplemental Data

The accompanying Notes on pages 43 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
PRAXAIR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(DOLLAR

AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA, SHARES IN THOUSANDS)

Activity

Balance, December 31, 2001

Common Stock
Shares
Amounts

170,141

$2

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

$ 1,795

Treasury Stock
Shares
Amounts

7,998

$ (330)

Net income
Translation adjustments
Derivative instruments,
net of $2 million taxes
Minimum pension liability,
net of $52 million taxes
Comprehensive income
Dividends on common stock
($0.38 per share, Note 1)
Issuances of common stock
For the dividend reinvestment
and stock purchase plan
For employee savings and
incentive plans
Purchases of common stock
Balance, December 31, 2002

409
(284)

(95)

(95)
33
(123)

–

3,763

170
$2

$1,965

(1,292)
4,976
11,682

59
(276)
$ (547)

229
(276)
$2,593

$(1,673)

585
313
8

2

Balance, December 31, 2003

354,951

$4

(149)

$2,340
585
313
8
906
(149)

48

–

3,535

183

$2,148

(1,681)
4,614
14,250
28,865

79
(271)

262
(271)
–

(2)
$ (739)

Net income
Translation adjustments
Minimum pension liability,
net of $31 million taxes
Comprehensive income

$3,027

$(1,352)

697
230
(58)

(195)

106

4

4,734

162

359,791

$2,477

3

46

173,950

Total

3

(123)

177,418

$4

$2,314

$3,088
697
230
(58)
869
(195)

4
(2,758)
10,063
36,170

The accompanying Notes on pages 43 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$(1,297)
(284)

Dividends on common stock
($0.46 per share, Note 1)
Issuances of common stock
For the dividend reinvestment
and stock purchase plan
For employee savings and
incentive plans
Purchases of common stock
Two-for-one stock split (Note 1)

Balance, December 31, 2004

$2,307
409

Net income
Translation adjustments
Minimum pension liability,
net of $5 million taxes
Comprehensive income

Dividends on common stock
($0.60 per share)
Issuances of common stock
For the dividend reinvestment
and stock purchase plan
For employee savings and
incentive plans
Purchases of common stock

Accumulated
Other
Retained Comprehensive
Earnings
Income (Loss)

75
(395)
$(1,059)

237
(395)
$3,529

$(1,180)

$3,608

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
complexes are located in the United States, Brazil, Spain and

OVERVIEW

Germany. This network is a competitive advantage, providing the
Praxair is the largest industrial gases supplier in North and

foundation of reliability for product supply to our customer base.

South America, is rapidly growing in Asia, and has strong,

Electricity, natural gas and diesel fuel are the largest cost

well-established businesses in Europe. The company’s primary

elements in the production and distribution of industrial gases.

products are oxygen, nitrogen, argon, carbon dioxide, helium,

Praxair minimizes the ﬁnancial impact of variability in these costs

hydrogen, electronics gases and a wide range of specialty gases.

through the management of customer contracts which typically

Praxair Surface Technologies supplies high-performance coatings

have cost-escalation and cost pass-through clauses.

that protect metal parts from wear, corrosion and high heat.

Through a disciplined focus on proﬁtable growth, Praxair

Praxair serves approximately 25 industries as diverse as healthcare

delivered strong ﬁnancial results in 2004. For the full year 2004,

and petroleum reﬁning; computer-chip manufacturing and

the company reported net income of $697 million, and diluted

beverage carbonation; ﬁber-optics and steel making; and aero-

earnings per share of $2.10, a 19% increase from $585 million

space, chemicals and water treatment. In 2004, 93% of sales

and $1.77 per share in 2003. Full-year sales were $6,594 million,

was generated in four regional segments (North America, Europe,

17% higher than 2003. Sales rose 13% excluding the impact

South America, and Asia), primarily from the sale of industrial

of higher natural gas prices, which are passed through to hydro-

gases, with the balance generated from the Surface

gen customers, and stronger currencies primarily in Europe,

Technologies segment.

South America and Asia. Underlying sales grew 11% from higher

Praxair manufactures and distributes its products through

volumes in all regional segments and higher overall pricing.

a network of hundreds of production plants, cylinder-ﬁlling stations

Sales volumes increased strongly in the energy, metals, healthcare,

and pipeline complexes in manufacturing enclaves. Major pipeline

manufacturing, chemicals and electronics markets.

CONSOLIDATED

RESULTS

The following table provides summary data for 2004, 2003 and 2002:
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
Year Ended December 31,

Sales
Gross margin (a)
As a percent of sales
Selling, general and administrative
As a percent of sales
Depreciation and amortization
Other income (expenses) – net
Operating profit
Interest expense – net
Effective tax rate
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change
Number of employees
(a)

2004

$ 6,594
$ 2,607
39.5%
$ 869
13.2%
$ 578
$
20
$ 1,103
$ 155
24.5%
$ 697
27,020

2003

$ 5,613
$ 2,285
40.7%
$ 766
13.6%
$ 517
$
(5)
$ 922
$ 151
22.6%
$ 585
25,438

2002

$ 5,128
$ 2,178
42.5%
$ 751
14.6%
$ 483
$
48
$ 923
$ 206
22.0%
$ 548
25,010

Variance
2004 vs. 2003
2003 vs. 2002

17%
14%

9%
5%

13%

2%

12%

7%

20%
3%

0%
-27%

19%
6%

7%
2%

Gross margin excludes depreciation and amortization expense.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

2004 Compared With 2003

Operating proﬁt in 2004 increased $181 million, or 20%,

Sales in 2004 increased $981 million, or 17%, versus 2003.

versus 2003. Strong sales volumes, continued productivity

Strong volume growth, primarily in the energy, metals, healthcare,

initiatives and moderate price increases across all segments were

manufacturing, chemicals and electronics markets, increased

primarily responsible for 15% of operating proﬁt growth in 2004.

sales by 9% as worldwide economic activity strengthened. Price

Currency appreciation, primarily in Europe and South America,

increases were realized in all regional segments and increased

was responsible for the remaining 5% growth.

overall sales by 2%. Currency movements primarily in Europe,

Interest expense in 2004 increased $4 million, or 3%,

South America and Asia favorably impacted sales growth by 3%.

versus 2003. The debt levels and interest rates remained compa-

The increase in raw material costs tied to natural gas prices,

rable to those in 2003 through November 2004. Interest expense

which Praxair is contractually obligated to pass through to on-site

increased slightly in December due to an increase in debt to

hydrogen customers, increased sales by $40 million, or 1% with

ﬁnance the German Acquisition.

an insigniﬁcant impact on operating proﬁt. The acquisitions

The effective income tax rate for 2004 was 24.5%, versus

of Home Care Supply, Inc. (HCS) in June 2004 and the German

22.6% for 2003. The increase in the effective rate was due

industrial gas businesses and assets (German Acquisition) in

primarily to higher earnings contributions in countries with higher

December 2004 increased sales by 2%.

marginal tax rates. Income taxes include a beneﬁt of $3 million in

Gross margin in 2004 improved $322 million, or 14%,

the second quarter of 2004 and $10 million in the second quarter

versus 2003. Gross margin as a percentage of sales declined

of 2003 resulting from the resolution of various tax matters from

120 basis points to 39.5% versus 2003. The reduction was due

prior years. For 2005, Praxair expects a full-year effective tax rate

primarily to the start-up of two steam-methane reformers on the

of approximately 26%, excluding the impact of the Jobs Creation

U.S. Gulf Coast, which operate at lower operating margins due to

Act (see Note 7 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements).

the pass-through of natural gas costs in sales.
Selling, general and administrative expenses in 2004 were

At December 31, 2004, minority interests consist of minority
shareholders’ investments in Europe (primarily Rivoira S.p.A.

$869 million, or 13.2% of sales, versus $766 million, or 13.6%

in Italy), Asia (primarily in China and India) and North America

of sales, for 2003. The $103 million increase was primarily due to

(primarily within Praxair Distribution). The increase in minority

general cost inﬂation, acquisitions and currency increases.

interest of $6 million in 2004 was due primarily to improved

Depreciation and amortization expense in 2004 increased
$61 million, or 12%, versus 2003. The increase was principally

proﬁtability of the entities located in Italy and China.
Praxair’s signiﬁcant equity investments are in Italy, the United

due to increased capital spending in 2003, acquisitions and

States and Spain. The company’s share of net income from

currency increases in Europe and South America.

corporate equity investments declined slightly to $11 million in

Other income (expenses) – net in 2004 increased by

2004 primarily due to a $3-million asset impairment charge

$25 million from a $20-million beneﬁt in 2004 compared to a

for an unconsolidated joint venture offset by improved proﬁtability

$5-million loss in 2003. The increase was due to a $13-million

in other joint ventures.

beneﬁt resulting from the resolution of a matter related to the

Net income in 2004 increased $112 million, or 19%, versus

divestiture of a business in a prior year, a $7-million reduction in

2003. The increase was due to improved operating proﬁt which

net income hedge losses in 2004 versus 2003, and higher

was partially offset by the higher effective tax rate.

partnership income. See Note 6 to the consolidated ﬁnancial

The number of employees at December 31, 2004 was

statements for a summary of the major components of Other

27,020, reﬂecting an increase of 1,582 employees from December

income (expenses) – net.

31, 2003 due primarily to the June acquisition of HCS (+1,263)
and the German Acquisition (+266) in December.

30

2003 Compared With 2002

Operating proﬁt in 2003 was $922 million, ﬂat compared

Sales in 2003 increased $485 million, or 9%, versus 2002.

to 2002. Excluding the impacts of net-income hedges in both

Realized price increases, principally in South America, North

periods and the litigation settlement in 2002, underlying operating

America and Europe, increased sales 3%. Overall, currency

proﬁt improved 4% primarily due to continued progress on

increased sales by 2%, largely due to the progressive strengthen-

productivity initiatives and currency appreciation of the euro which

ing of the euro versus the U.S. dollar throughout 2003. Sales

outpaced inﬂationary pressures on cost structures.

increased 1% due to volume as all geographic segments reported

Interest expense in 2003 declined $55 million, or 27%,

year-over-year improvement. Strong volume growth in Asia and

versus 2002. The reduction in interest expense is primarily due to

South America within the electronics, energy, metals and manufac-

the 2002 and 2003 reﬁnancings of debt at lower interest rates.

turing markets offset sluggish but improving conditions in North

The effective tax rate for 2003 was 22.6%, versus 22.0%

America markets. Increased natural gas costs, which Praxair

for 2002, due to the lower earnings contribution from Brazil, which

is contractually obligated to pass through to on-site hydrogen

has a lower effective tax rate, and lower interest expense in the

customers, increased sales by 2%, with an insigniﬁcant impact

U.S., which is deductible at a 35% marginal rate. A beneﬁt of

on operating proﬁt. Acquisitions in healthcare, packaged gas

$10 million was recorded in the second quarter of 2003 resulting

and on-site markets worldwide increased sales by 1%.

from the resolution of various tax matters for previous years.

Gross margin in 2003 improved $107 million, or 5%, versus

The increase in minority interest of $4 million in 2003 was

2002. Gross margin as a percent of sales declined 180 basis

due primarily to the consolidation of joint ventures in Asia and

points to 40.7%, versus 2002. A 70 basis-point reduction in gross

Europe (as a result of increased ownership in these joint ventures).

margin percentage was a result of increased natural gas cost

Praxair’s share of net income from corporate equity invest-

pass-throughs, which had an insigniﬁcant impact on reported

ments increased $3 million in 2003 primarily due to improved

gross margin. Energy costs grew faster than the company’s ability

proﬁtability of its joint venture in Italy.

to increase prices, primarily in the North American merchant
market, further dampening gross margin as a percent of sales.
Selling, general and administrative expenses in 2003
were $766 million, or 13.6% of sales, versus $751 million or

Income before accounting changes increased $37 million,
or 7%, compared to 2002 primarily due to the reduction of interest
expense.
The number of employees at December 31, 2003 was

14.6% of sales for 2002. The increase was principally the result

25,438, reﬂecting an increase of 428 employees from December

of currency appreciation in Europe and acquisitions. Excluding

31, 2002. This increase related primarily to new service initiatives

those factors, underlying operational expenses were essentially ﬂat

in Brazil (+833), partially offset by restructuring actions primarily

as a result of continued focus on productivity initiatives.

in Surface Technologies (-144) and the divestiture of operations

Depreciation and amortization in 2003 increased $34 mil-

in Poland (-170).

lion, or 7%, versus 2002. The increase was due to an increase
in capital expenditures of $22 million, $9 million in currency
appreciation and $3 million in business acquisition activity.
Other income (expenses) – net in 2003 was a loss of
$5 million in 2003 versus a $48 million gain in 2002. 2003
included $9 million of losses on net income hedges (primarily in
Europe and Brazil). 2002 included $17 million of net-income
hedge gains (primarily in Brazil) and a $7-million gain from a
favorable litigation settlement. See Note 6 to the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements for a summary of the major components
of Other income (expenses) – net.
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Accounting Change

have not had a signiﬁcant impact on the environment. However,

In the second quarter of 2002, Praxair completed the initial

worldwide costs relating to environmental protection may continue

goodwill impairment tests required for the adoption of Statement

to grow due to increasingly stringent laws and regulations,

of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142. These tests

and Praxair’s ongoing commitment to rigorous internal standards.

indicated an impairment of goodwill related to previous acquisi-

Environmental protection costs in 2004 included approximately

tions. As a result, a $139-million non-cash transition charge to

$6 million in capital expenditures and $15 million of expenses,

earnings was recorded as a cumulative effect of an accounting

including $1 million for remediation projects. Environmental

change, retroactive to January 1, 2002. For more information,

protection expenditures were approximately $4 million less in

see Note 2 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.

2004 versus 2003. Praxair anticipates that future environmental
protection expenditures will be similar to 2004, subject to any

Related Party Transactions

signiﬁcant changes in existing laws and regulations. Based on

The company’s related parties are primarily unconsolidated equity

historical results and current estimates, management does

afﬁliates. The company did not engage in any material transactions

not believe that environmental expenditures will have a material

involving related parties that included terms or other aspects

adverse effect on the consolidated ﬁnancial position or on the

that differ from those which would be negotiated with independent

consolidated results of operations or cash ﬂows in any given year.

parties.
Legal Proceedings
Costs Relating to the Protection of the Environment

See Note 20 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for informa-

Praxair’s principal operations relate to the production and distribu-

tion concerning legal proceedings.

tion of atmospheric and other industrial gases, which historically

SEGMENT

DISCUSSION

The following summary of sales and operating proﬁt by segment provides a basis for the discussion that follows:
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

Variance
2004 vs. 2003
2003 vs. 2002

Sales

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface Technologies
Eliminations

$4,191
847
866
487
447
(244)

$3,627
699
708
389
400
(210)

$3,351
589
632
324
394
(162)

16%
21%
22%
25%
12%

8%
19%
12%
20%
2%

$6,594

$5,613

$5,128

17%

9%

$ 623
214
152
80
34
—

$ 548
170
114
64
26
—

$ 557
139
134
51
35
7

14%
26%
33%
25%
31%

-2%
22%
-15%
25%
-26%

$1,103

$ 922

$ 923

20%

0%

Operating Profit

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface Technologies
All Other
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North America

Sales for 2003 increased $276 million, or 8%, versus 2002.

The North America operating segment includes Praxair’s industrial

The effect of escalating natural gas costs for hydrogen customers

and packaged gases operations in the U.S., Canada and Mexico.

increased sales 3% with an insigniﬁcant impact on operating

Praxair’s U.S. and Canadian packaged gases operations within the

proﬁt. Overall price increases of 3% were primarily realized in

North American industrial gases business are collectively referred

Praxair’s U.S. and Canadian on-site, merchant and packaged-gas

to as Praxair Distribution. North America also includes several

business units and in Mexico. Acquisitions by healthcare and

product lines servicing the electronics and healthcare markets.

packaged-gas business units increased sales by 1%. Sales

On June 14, 2004, Praxair acquired 100% of the outstand-

volumes continued to improve in the chemical, energy, manufactur-

ing common shares of HCS for a purchase price of $245 million.

ing and metals markets as manufacturing activity improved

HCS was the largest privately-held home-respiratory and medical

resulting in an increase in sales of 1%.

equipment provider in the United States with 59 locations in

Operating proﬁt for 2003 decreased $9 million, or 2%,

13 states. See Note 3 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements

versus 2002. Excluding electricity costs, realized price increases

for additional information related to the acquisition.

and continued focus on productivity and purchasing initiatives

Sales for 2004 increased $564 million, or 16%, versus

offset underlying inﬂationary pressures on our cost structures.

2003. Higher demand in the energy, manufacturing, metals and

Electricity costs, on average, increased by 15% in the United

chemicals markets led to strong volume growth of 9%. Acquisitions

States, which outpaced realized price increases primarily

contributed 3% to sales growth, driven primarily by the HCS

in Praxair’s merchant markets. In addition, tough market conditions

acquisition. Overall price increases of 3% were primarily driven by

prevailed in the ﬁrst half of 2003 in electronics markets, marginally

price attainment in our Canadian and U.S. packaged-gas business,

decreasing operating proﬁt versus 2002.

on-site customers and in Mexico. The increase in raw material costs

Including the HCS acquisition, Praxair now estimates that

tied to natural gas prices, which Praxair is contractually obligated

the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization

to pass through to on-site hydrogen customers, increased sales by

Act of 2003 may reduce annual sales of certain healthcare

$40 million, or 1%, with minimal impact on operating proﬁt.

products by approximately $15 million to $20 million but expects

Operating proﬁt in 2004 increased $75 million, or 14%,
versus 2003. Stronger sales to the manufacturing, metals,

to offset the revenue reduction through cost management
and organic sales volume growth.

chemicals and electronics markets were the primary driver to
operating-proﬁt growth. Total productivity and pricing actions

Europe

largely offset underlying inﬂationary pressures. Acquisitions

Praxair’s European industrial gases business is primarily in Italy,

and currency favorably impacted operating proﬁt by 2%.

Spain, Germany, Benelux and France. On December 2, 2004,

Operating proﬁt as a percentage of sales decreased 20 basis

Praxair acquired industrial gas assets and related businesses in

points to 14.9%. This decline is due solely to the HCS acquisition

Germany from Air Liquide S.A. for a purchase price of $667 mil-

and the start-up of two steam-methane reformers in the third

lion. The acquired assets and businesses consist of industrial

quarter, both of which operate at lower operating margins.

gas plants and pipeline assets in the Rhine/Ruhr and Saar areas,

Excluding the effect of the acquisition and the new hydrogen

bulk distribution and packaged-gas businesses. The businesses

business, operating proﬁt as a percentage of sales was higher

serve large customers in the reﬁning, chemical and steel industries

than 2003 levels by 30 basis points.

along the pipeline systems, plus about 40,000 smaller customers
in bulk, medical, specialty and packaged gases. See Note 3
to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for additional information
related to the acquisition.
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Sales for 2004 increased $148 million, or 21%, versus

Operating proﬁt increased $38 million, or 33%, versus

2003. The favorable impact of the stronger euro increased sales

2003. The increase in operating proﬁt was principally due to the

by 10%. Acquisitions accounted for approximately 6% of the

increase in sales and the favorable impact of currency ﬂuctuations,

sales growth, driven by the German Acquisition and the full-year

which grew operating proﬁt by 21% and 12%, respectively.

impact of the 2003 consolidation of Indugas, a former joint venture.

Continued cost savings initiatives and pricing offset inﬂationary

Excluding the acquisitions and the impact of currency, sales

impacts on cost structures.

increased 4% due to improved volumes. Liquid and packaged-gas

Sales for 2003 increased $76 million, or 12%, versus 2002.

volumes in Spain, Italy, and Western Europe remained at healthy

The effects of currency adversely impacted reported sales by 7%

levels as the metals, healthcare and electronics markets continue

due principally to devaluation of the Brazilian real which stabilized

to grow at robust levels.

in the second half of 2003 at approximately 2.9 per U.S. dollar.

Operating proﬁt for 2004 increased $44 million, or 26%,

Strong pricing initiatives resulted in an increase in sales of 9%.

versus 2003. The improvement in operating proﬁt was principally

Sales volumes were strong, increasing sales by 9% due to strong

due to the continued favorable impact of a stronger euro and

sales to metal manufacturers supplying export markets, healthcare

increased sales, each of which generated half of the increase.

and chemical customers.

Cost reductions related to productivity programs primarily offset
inﬂation on existing cost structures.
Sales for 2003 increased $110 million, or 19%, versus

Operating proﬁt for 2003 decreased $20 million,
or 15%, versus 2002. 2003 operating proﬁt included $2 million
of net income hedge losses and a $5-million expense related

2002. The favorable impact of the stronger euro increased sales by

to the settlement of legal matters. 2002 operating proﬁt included

19%. Sales volumes and realized price increases each favorably

$20 million of net income hedge gains. Excluding these impacts,

impacted sales by 2%, offsetting the net decrease in sales

underlying operating proﬁt increased 6%. Continued focus on

resulting from the Poland divestiture and the Indugas consolidation.

productivity initiatives and pricing actions mostly offset the unfavor-

Market-share penetration in the manufacturing, healthcare and

able impact of inﬂation. Severance costs decreased operating

metals markets principally drove the sales volume gains.

proﬁt by 4% as South American management continued to

Operating proﬁt for 2003 increased $31 million, or 22%,

implement productivity improvements. Increased sales volumes

versus 2002. The favorable impact of the euro generated 17% of

improved operating proﬁt by 14% demonstrating favorable

this increase. Underlying operating proﬁt grew 9% as cost reduc-

operating leverage.

tion programs, the Indugas consolidation, and operating leverage
on the sales volume growth signiﬁcantly outpaced the net impact

Asia

of pricing and inﬂation on cost structures. The divestiture of

The Asia segment includes Praxair’s industrial gases operations

the Poland operations adversely impacted operating proﬁt by 4%.

primarily in China, India, Korea and Thailand, with smaller operations in Japan, Malaysia and Taiwan.

South America

Sales for 2004 increased $98 million, or 25%, versus 2003.

Praxair’s South American industrial gases operations are

Strong volume growth, primarily in the electronics, metals and

conducted by its subsidiary, White Martins Gases Industriais Ltda.

chemicals markets, increased sales by 18%. Realized price

(White Martins), which is the largest industrial gases company

increases were 3% for the year and favorable currency movement

in Brazil. White Martins also has operations in Argentina, Bolivia,

improved sales by 2%. The 2003 consolidation of a former joint

Chile, Colombia, Paraguay, Peru, Uruguay and Venezuela.

venture in China increased sales by 2%. Management continues to

Sales for 2004 increased $158 million, or 22%, versus

focus investment in China due to continuing growth opportunities.

2003. The sales improvement was driven by sales volume

New projects coming on-stream in 2005 and 2006 will primarily

increases of 9% and realized price increases of 9% to on-site,

serve the semiconductor, steel, chemical and reﬁning industries.

liquid and packaged-gases customers. Currency improvements
increased sales by 4%. Continued strong volume increases
in the metals, manufacturing and healthcare markets principally
drove the sales volume growth.
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Operating proﬁt for 2004 increased $16 million, or 25%,

Operating proﬁt for 2003 decreased $9 million, or 26%,

versus 2003. The improvement in operating proﬁt is primarily a

versus 2002 as weakening volumes outpaced cost reduction

result of the strong sales volumes, which increased operating

initiatives. In 2003, $2 million of severance expense was incurred

proﬁt by 25%. The 2003 consolidation of the former joint venture

to reduce cost structures in reaction to difﬁcult market conditions

added 4% growth for the year. Cost reduction initiatives largely

in global coatings and aviation services.

offset the negative impact inﬂation had on the underlying cost
structure.
Sales for 2003 increased $65 million, or 20%, versus 2002.
Strong volume growth in Chinese metals and electronics markets,

All Other

Operating income in 2002 of $7 million represents a net gain
related to the settlement of litigation with Airgas, Inc.

Korean electronics markets, Indian metals markets and Thai food
markets increased sales by 14%. Praxair increased its ownership

Currency

and began consolidating joint-venture companies in China,

Praxair’s results of foreign operations are generally translated

increasing sales by $10 million, or 3%. The effects of favorable

to the company’s reporting currency, the U.S. dollar, from the

currency rates, primarily in India, Thailand and Korea, favorably

functional currencies used in the countries in which the company

impacted sales by 3%.

operates. In general, Praxair uses the local currency as its

Operating proﬁt for 2003 increased $13 million, or 25%,

operation’s functional currency with the exception of hyperinﬂa-

versus 2002. The consolidation of the joint venture increased

tionary countries where the U.S. dollar is used as the functional

operating proﬁt by 6%. Operating proﬁt grew 29% from increased

currency. There is inherent variability and unpredictability in

sales volumes as favorable operating leverage was realized on

the relationship of these functional currencies to the U.S. dollar

plant infrastructure investments. Productivity initiatives partially

and such currency movements may materially impact Praxair’s

mitigated the impacts of cost inﬂation.

results of operations in any given period.
To help understand the reported results, the following is

Surface Technologies

a summary of the signiﬁcant currencies underlying Praxair’s

Praxair’s worldwide Surface Technologies business operates

consolidated results and the exchange rates used to translate

primarily in the U.S. and Europe, with smaller operations in Asia

the ﬁnancial statements (rates of exchange expressed in units

and Brazil.

of local currency per U.S. dollar):

Sales for 2004 increased $47 million, or 12%, versus 2003.
The favorable impact of currency increased sales by $22 million,
or 6%, compared to the prior year. Volume increased 6% primarily

Percent of
2004
Consolidated
Sales (a)

as a result of higher volumes of high-end coating sales for OEM

Currency

aircraft engine parts and other industrial coatings. The aviation-

European euro
Brazilian real
Canadian dollar
Mexican peso
Venezuelan bolivar
Argentinean peso

repair business continues to be soft, reﬂecting the weak ﬁnancial
condition of the commercial airline industry.
Operating proﬁt for 2004 increased $8 million, or 31%,
versus 2003. The increase in operating proﬁt was driven by
beneﬁts from increased sales volumes, primarily of industrial

(a)

15%
11%
9%
4%
<1%
<1%

Income Statement
Average Year-to-Date
December 31,
2004
2003
2002

Balance Sheet
December 31,
2004
2003

0.81 0.89 1.07
2.92 3.06 2.92
1.31 1.41 1.57
11.30 10.74 9.58
1,883 1,609 1,162
2.94 2.95 3.16

0.73 0.81
2.65 2.89
1.21 1.33
11.13 11.30
1,920 1,600
2.98 2.93

Certain Surface Technologies segment sales are included in European and
Brazilian sales.

coatings and the beneﬁts of prior-year cost-reduction initiatives.
Sales for 2003 increased $6 million, or 2%, versus 2002 as
favorable currency impacts outpaced declining sales volumes.
The lower volumes reﬂect market weakness in the global coatings
and aviation services business units.
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LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND

Investing

FINANCIAL DATA

Net cash used for investing of $1,552 million in 2004 increased
$560 million, or 56%, versus 2003 due primarily to the two

(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

Net Cash Provided by (Used for)

signiﬁcant 2004 acquisitions, partially offset by a reduction in
capital expenditures. Capital expenditures in 2004 totaled
$668 million, a decrease of

Net income plus depreciation and
amortization and accounting change
Working capital
Other – net

$ 1,275
(68)
36

$1,102
(58)
93

$1,031
(27)
(3)

Total provided by operating activities

$ 1,243

$1,137

$1,001

Capital expenditures
Acquisitions
Divestitures and asset sales

$ (668)
(929)
45

$ (983)
(73)
64

$ (498)
(113)
24

Total used for investing

$(1,552)

$ (992)

$ (587)

Debt increases (reductions)
Minority transactions and other
Issuances (purchases) of stock
Cash dividends

$

$

43
(5)
(25)
(149)

$ (245)
27
(70)
(123)

Total provided by (used for) financing

$

$ (136)

$ (411)

$315 million from 2003, which

Capital Expenditures
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

included the purchase of
leased assets for $339 million.

1,000

Net cash used for

$983

Operating Activities

investing in 2003 totaled

Investing Activities

$992 million, an increase of

800

281

Debt-to-capital ratio
After-tax return on capital

47.9%
12.5%

46.2%
12.8%

favorable ﬁnancing conditions
(see Note 5 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements)
and increased capital expendi-

52.3%
13.4%

Non-GAAP measure. See the Appendix on page 68 for definitions and reconciliation to reported amounts.

related to the purchase of
in June 2003 in response to

200

Other Financial Data (a)

(a)

400

The increase is primarily
leased assets for $339

$498

Financing Activities

666
(8)
(182)
(195)

$668

$595

600

$704

$405 million from 2002.

tures for two new steammethane reformers to supply
00

01

02

03

04

North American hydrogen
customers.

Acquisition expenditures in 2004 were $929 million,

Cash Flow from Operations

Cash ﬂow from operations increased $106 million to $1,243 mil-

an increase of $856 million from 2003. The 2004 expenditures

lion in 2004 from $1,137 million in 2003. The growth is a result

relate primarily to two acquisitions. In December 2004, Praxair

of the strong cash ﬂow generated from the improved proﬁts on

acquired German industrial gas assets and related businesses

Cash Flow from Operations
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

$1,137

$1,001

$899

900

$1,020

1,200

$1,243

1,500

higher sales, partially offset by

from Air Liquide, S.A. (with annual sales in 2003 of approximately

increased cash used for

$199 million) for $667 million. In June 2004, Praxair acquired

worldwide pension contribu-

100% of the outstanding common shares of HCS for a purchase

tions of approximately

price of $245 million. HCS was the largest privately held home

$119 million, an increase

respiratory and medical equipment provider in the United States

of $85 million over 2003

with annual sales in 2003 of approximately $169 million.

contribution levels.

Acquisition expenditures for 2003 totaled $73 million, a decrease

Cash ﬂow from operations increased $136 million

smaller number of and amounts paid for acquisitions related to the

to $1,137 million in 2003

North American healthcare and electronics businesses.

from $1,001 million in 2002.
The improvement is due to

600

increased earnings, an increase
in Non-cash (beneﬁts) charges
and other and from a reduction

300

in cash payments related to
the 2000 and 2001 restructuring and repositioning charges.
00
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of $40 million from 2002. The decrease in 2003 was due to the

Proceeds from divestitures and asset sales in 2004 were

Cash provided by ﬁnancing activities increased $417 million

$45 million, a decrease of $19 million from 2003. Divestitures

to $281 million in 2004 compared to cash used for ﬁnancing

and asset sales in 2004 include the third-quarter sale of assets

activities of $136 million in 2003. The increase in cash provided

in Europe for approximately $20 million related to a customer

by ﬁnancing activities can be attributed to an increase in net

contract termination. Divestitures and asset sales in 2003 totaled

proceeds from debt issuances of $623 million, most of which was

$64 million, an increase of $40 million from 2002. The increase

borrowed for the German Acquisition (see Europe discussion).

was due primarily to the 2003 sale of Praxair’s Polish business for

The aforementioned increase was partially offset by an increase

approximately $50 million.

in cash used to repurchase common stock of $157 million,

On a worldwide basis, capital expenditures for 2005 are

net of issuances and an increase in cash dividends year-over-year

expected to be in the range of $700 million to $750 million,

of $46 million. Cash dividends in 2004 were $0.60 per share

with the largest concentration of investment in the energy sector

compared to $0.46 per share in 2003, an increase of 30%.

in North America, which includes hydrogen, enhanced oil and

On November 29, 2004, the company entered into a €450

gas recovery and the company’s liqueﬁed natural gas business

million, ﬁve-year borrowing facility with a syndicate of international

in Brazil. At December 31, 2004, $381 million of capital

banks. As of December 31, 2004, the amount outstanding against

expenditures had been approved and committed. Acquisition

this facility was €450 million, or $613 million. The proceeds

expenditures will depend on the availability of opportunities

were used to ﬁnance the German Acquisition referenced in Note 3

at attractive prices.

to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements. Such borrowings are
classiﬁed as long-term because of the company’s intent to

Financing

reﬁnance this debt on a long-term basis and the availability of

Praxair’s ﬁnancing strategy is to secure long-term committed

such ﬁnancing under the terms of this agreement. During December

funding at attractive interest rates by issuing U.S. public notes

2004, Praxair terminated and replaced its $1-billion credit

and debentures and commercial paper backed by a standby long-

agreement with a ﬁve-year $1-billion senior unsecured credit

term bank credit agreement. Its international operations are funded

facility with a syndicate of banks that expires in 2009. No borrow-

through a combination of local borrowing and inter-company

ings were outstanding under either credit agreement at December

funding to minimize the total cost of funds and to manage and

31, 2004 or 2003. Associated fees were not signiﬁcant in each

centralize currency exchange exposures. Praxair manages its

of the past three years.

exposure to interest-rate changes through the use of ﬁnancial

During 2003, Praxair repaid $300 million of 6.75% notes

derivatives (see Note 15 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements

and $75 million of 6.625% notes that were due on March 1, 2003

and the section entitled “Market Risks and Sensitivity Analyses”).

and March 15, 2003, respectively. On April 15, 2003, Praxair

At December 31,
Debt-to-Capital Ratio

40

47.9%

46.2%

52.3%

53.1%

50

55.5%

60

repaid $250 million of 6.15% notes that were due. The repay-

2004, Praxair’s total debt

ments were funded through the issuance of commercial paper.

outstanding was $3,525 mil-

On May 27, 2003 and June 2, 2003, respectively, Praxair issued

lion, $709 million higher than

$350 million of 3.95% notes due 2013 and $300 million of

$2,816 million at December

2.75% notes due 2008, respectively. The proceeds of these debt

31, 2003. The December 31,

issuances were used to reﬁnance commercial paper and purchase

2004 debt balance comprises

$339 million of previously leased assets.

$2,331 million in public notes,
$285 million in commercial
paper, and $909 million
representing primarily bank

30

borrowings from around
the world. At December 31,

20

2004, Praxair was in compliance with its borrowing

10

covenants and Praxair’s global
effective borrowing rate was
approximately 5%.
00

01
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Praxair’s debt-to-capital ratio increased 170 basis points

Other Financial Data

The following discussion includes non-GAAP measures that may

to 47.9% at December 31, 2004 over 2003. The ﬂuctuation

not be comparable to similar deﬁnitions used by other companies.

is attributed to an increase in total debt due to increased 2004

Praxair believes that its debt-to-capital ratio is appropriate for

borrowings used to ﬁnance the German Acquisition and is partially

measuring its ﬁnancial leverage. The company believes that its

offset by increases in shareholders’ equity due to 2004 net

after-tax return-on-invested-capital ratio is an appropriate measure

income and the favorable impact of currency translation on equity.

for judging performance as it reﬂects the approximate after-tax

After-tax return on capital decreased 30 basis points

proﬁt earned as a percentage of investments by all parties in the

to 12.5% at December 31, 2004 compared to 2003 due to

business (debt, minority interest, preferred stock, and shareholders’

increased average capital balances resulting from the aforemen-

equity). See the Appendix on page 68 for deﬁnitions and reconcilia-

tioned increase in borrowings due to acquisitions which reduced

tion of these two non-GAAP measures to reported amounts.

the after-tax return on capital by 0.6% in 2004, partially offset
by increased operating proﬁts versus 2003.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth Praxair’s material contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2004:
(MILLIONS

OF DOLLARS)

Due or
Expiring by
December 31,

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

Contractual Obligations

Other Commercial Commitments

Debt and
Capitalized
Lease
Maturities

Obligations
Under
Operating
Leases

Unconditional
Purchase
Obligations

Total

Construction
Commitments

Guarantees
and Other

Total

$ 649
287
525
557
618
889

$ 67
55
41
28
19
78

$117
70
41
33
32
117

$ 833
412
607
618
669
1,084

$231
136
14
—
—
—

$43
1
2
—
—
14

$ 274
137
16
—
—
14

$3,525

$288

$410

$4,223

$381

$60

$441

Debt and capitalized lease maturities of $3,525 million

obligations are passed on to customers through similar take-or-

exclude interest thereon, are more fully described in Note 14

pay contractual arrangements. Purchase obligations that are not

to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and are included on the

passed along to customers do not represent a signiﬁcant risk

company’s balance sheet as long- and short-term liabilities.

to Praxair. In addition, Praxair enters into contracts to purchase

German Acquisition debt of $613 million is included in 2009

products and services that do not have minimum purchase

maturities.

provisions.

Obligations under operating leases of $288 million repre-

Construction commitments of $381 million represent

sent non-cancelable contractual obligations primarily for manufac-

outstanding commitments to customers or suppliers to complete

turing and distribution equipment and ofﬁce space. See Note 5

authorized construction projects as of December 31, 2004.

to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for further details.

A signiﬁcant portion of Praxair’s capital spending is related to the

Unconditional purchase obligations of $410 million represent contractual commitments under various long- and short-term

construction of new production facilities to satisfy customer
commitments which may take a year or more to complete.

take-or-pay arrangements with suppliers. These obligations are

Guarantees and other of $60 million include $6 million

primarily minimum purchase commitments for electricity, natural

related to required minimum pension contributions and $54 million

gas and feedstock used to produce atmospheric gases, carbon

related to Praxair’s contingent obligations under guarantees of

dioxide and hydrogen. During 2004, payments under these

certain debt of unconsolidated afﬁliates. Unconsolidated equity

contracts totaled $479 million, including $227 million for electricity

investees had total debt of approximately $193 million at

and $192 million for natural gas. A signiﬁcant portion of these

December 31, 2004, which was non-recourse to Praxair with the
exception of the guaranteed portions described above. Praxair
has no ﬁnancing arrangements with closely-held related parties.
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See Note 20 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for

CRITICAL

ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

more information concerning commitments and contingencies.
In addition, see Note 9 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements

The policies discussed below are considered by management

for a summary of long-term liabilities which consist primarily of

to be critical to understanding Praxair’s ﬁnancial statements and

pension and other post-retirement beneﬁt costs (OPEB).

accompanying Notes prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP).

Pension Benefits

Their application places signiﬁcant importance on management’s

The non-cash minimum pension liability recorded at December 31,

judgment as a result of the need to make estimates of matters

2004 was increased by $89 million to $241 million at December

that are inherently uncertain. Praxair’s ﬁnancial position, results of

31, 2004 ($157 million after-tax) from $152 million at December

operations and cash ﬂows could be materially affected if actual

31, 2003 ($99 million after-tax). The increase in the pension

results differ from estimates made. These policies are determined by

liability did not affect net income as the offsetting, after-tax charge

management and have been reviewed by Praxair’s Audit Committee.

was made to Accumulated other comprehensive income within
Shareholders’ equity.
Pension contributions were $119 million in 2004 ($34 mil-

Depreciable Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

Praxair’s net property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2004

lion in 2003). Estimates of 2005 contributions are in the range

was $5,946 million, representing 60% of the company’s consoli-

of $80 million to $85 million, of which $6 million is required. As of

dated total assets. Depreciation expense for the year ended

February 21, 2005, $59 million of contributions were made to

December 31, 2004 was $565 million, or 10% of total operating

Praxair’s U.S. Pension Plans.

costs. Management judgment is required in the determination

Praxair assumes an expected return on plan assets for 2005
in the U.S. of 8.5%. In 2005, consolidated pension expense
is expected to be approximately $45 million versus $37 million
in 2004 and $26 million in 2003.

of the estimated depreciable lives that are used to calculate the
annual depreciation expense and accumulated depreciation.
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and
depreciated over the assets’ estimated useful lives on a straightline basis for ﬁnancial-reporting purposes. The estimated useful

Insurance

life represents the projected period of time that the asset will

Praxair purchases insurance to limit a variety of risks, including

be productively employed by the company and is determined by

those related to workers’ compensation, liability (general, products,

management based on many factors, including historical experi-

professional and vehicles) and all-risk property. Currently,

ence with similar assets, technological life cycles, geographic

the company self-retains the ﬁrst $5 million per occurrence for

locations and contractual supply relationships with on-site

workers’ compensation and general liability and between $1 mil-

customers. Circumstances and events relating to these assets,

lion and $5 million per occurrence for its properties. To mitigate

such as on-site contract modiﬁcations, are monitored to

its aggregate loss potential above this retention, the company

ensure that changes in asset lives or impairments (see “Asset

purchases insurance coverage from highly rated insurance

Impairments” below) are identiﬁed and prospective depreciation

companies at what it believes are reasonable coverage levels.

expense or impairment expense is adjusted accordingly.

The aggregate retained liability of $43 million and $37 million as

Praxair’s largest asset values relate to cryogenic air-separation

of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, is estimated

production plants with average depreciable lives of 15 years.

using statistical analyses and is based upon historical experience,

Based upon the assets as of December 31, 2004,

actuarial assumptions and professional judgment. These estimates

if depreciable lives of machinery and equipment, on average,

are subject to the effects of trends in loss severity and frequency

were increased or decreased by one year, annual depreciation

and are subject to a signiﬁcant degree of inherent variability.

expense would be decreased by approximately $25 million
or increased by approximately $28 million, respectively.
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Pension Benefits

The weighted-average expected rate of compensation

Pension beneﬁts represent ﬁnancial obligations that will be

increase for Praxair’s U.S. and international plans was 3%

ultimately settled in the future with employees who meet eligibility

at December 31, 2004. The estimated annual compensation

requirements. Because of the uncertainties involved in estimating

increase is determined by management every year and is

the timing and amount of future payments, signiﬁcant estimates are

based on historical trends and market indices. A 0.50% change

required to calculate pension expense and liabilities related to

in the expected rate of compensation increase, with all other

the company’s plans. The company utilizes the services of several

variables held constant, would change Praxair’s pension expense

independent actuaries, whose models are used to facilitate

by approximately $5 million and would impact the PBO by

these calculations.

approximately $21 million. A change in this assumption is

Several key assumptions are used in actuarial models
to calculate pension expense and liability amounts recorded in

usually consistent with a change in the discount rate assumption,
and the earnings impacts generally offset one another.

the ﬁnancial statements. Management believes the three most
signiﬁcant variables in the models are the expected long-term rate

ASSET

IMPAIRMENT

of return on plan assets, the discount rate, and the expected
rate of compensation increase. The actuarial models also use

Goodwill

assumptions for various other factors including employee turnover,

At December 31, 2004, the company had goodwill of $1,551 mil-

retirement age, and mortality. Praxair management believes the

lion, which represents the aggregate of excess purchase price for

assumptions used in the actuarial calculations are reasonable and

acquired businesses over the fair value of the net assets acquired.

are within accepted practices in each of the respective geographic

The company performs a goodwill impairment test annually or

locations in which we operate.

more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an

The weighted-average expected long-term rates of return

impairment loss may have been incurred. The impairment test

on pension plan assets were 8.5% for U.S. plans and 7.75% for

requires that the company estimate and compare the fair value of

international plans at December 31, 2004. These rates are

its reporting units to their carrying value. As of December 31,

determined annually by management based on a weighted average

2004, goodwill was assigned to eight reporting units in amounts

of current and historical market trends, historical portfolio perfor-

ranging from $1 million to $939 million. Fair value is determined

mance and the portfolio mix of investments. A 0.50% change

through the use of projected future cash ﬂows, multiples of

in these expected long-term rates of return, with all other variables

earnings and sales and other factors.

held constant, would change Praxair’s pension expense by
approximately $5 million.
The weighted-average discount rates for pension plan

Such analysis requires the use of certain future market
assumptions and discount factors, which are subjective in nature.
Estimated values can be affected by many factors beyond the

liabilities were 5.85% for U.S. plans and 5.50% for international

company’s control such as business and economic trends,

plans at December 31, 2004. These rates are used to calculate

government regulation, and technological changes. Management

the present value of plan liabilities and are determined annually by

believes that the assumptions used to determine fair value are

management based on market yields for high-quality ﬁxed income

appropriate and reasonable. However, changes in circumstances

investments representing the approximate duration of the pension

or conditions affecting these assumptions could have a signiﬁcant

liabilities on the measurement date. A 0.50% change in these

impact on the fair value determination, which could then result in a

discount rates, with all other variables held constant, would

material impairment charge to the company’s results of operations.

change Praxair’s pension expense by approximately $10 million

See Notes 2 and 12 to the consolidated ﬁnancial

and would impact the projected beneﬁt obligation (PBO) by

statements for information concerning the initial adoption of

approximately $98 million.

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”

and disclosures concerning the carrying value of goodwill.
Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an individual asset or asset group may not be recoverable. To test recoverability, the company compares management’s
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best estimate of the future cash ﬂows expected to be generated

NEW

ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS

from the asset or asset group to compare against the carrying
amount of the asset or asset group. Should these undiscounted

See Notes 1 and 2 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements

future cash ﬂows be less than the carrying amount of the asset or

for information concerning new accounting standards and for

asset group, an impairment charge reducing the carrying amount

information regarding the 2002 accounting change, respectively.

to fair value is required. Fair value is determined based on the most
appropriate valuation technique, including discounted cash ﬂows.

MARKET

RISKS

AND

SENSITIVITY

ANALYSES

This analysis requires management to make various subjective
estimates and assumptions, including the amount of projected

Praxair is exposed to market risks relating to ﬂuctuations in interest

future cash ﬂows related to the potentially impaired asset or asset

rates and currency exchange rates. The objective of ﬁnancial

group, the useful life over which cash ﬂows will occur and the

risk management at Praxair is to minimize the negative impact of

assets’ residual value, if any.

interest rate and foreign exchange rate ﬂuctuations on the
company’s earnings, cash ﬂows and equity.

Income Taxes

To manage these risks, Praxair uses various derivative

At December 31, 2004, Praxair had deferred tax assets of

ﬁnancial instruments, including interest-rate swaps, currency

$647 million (net of valuation allowances of $112 million),

swaps, forward contracts and commodity contracts. Praxair only

and deferred tax liabilities of $879 million. Income tax expense

uses commonly traded and non-leveraged instruments. These

was $232 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

contracts are entered into primarily with major banking institutions

In the preparation of consolidated ﬁnancial statements,

thereby minimizing the risk of credit loss. Also, see Notes 1 and

Praxair estimates income taxes based on diverse legislative and

15 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for a more complete

regulatory structures that exist in various jurisdictions where the

description of Praxair’s accounting policies and use of such

company conducts business. Deferred income tax assets and

instruments.

liabilities represent tax beneﬁts or obligations that arise from

The following discussion presents the sensitivity of the

temporary differences due to differing treatment of certain items

market value, earnings and cash ﬂows of Praxair’s ﬁnancial

for accounting and income tax purposes. Praxair evaluates

instruments to hypothetical changes in interest and exchange

deferred tax assets each period to ensure that estimated future

rates assuming these changes occurred at December 31, 2004.

taxable income will be sufﬁcient in character (e.g. capital gain

The range of changes chosen for these discussions reﬂect

versus ordinary income treatment), amount and timing to result in

Praxair’s view of changes which are reasonably possible over a

their recovery. A valuation allowance is established when manage-

one-year period. Market values represent the present values

ment determines that it is more likely than not that a deferred

of projected future cash ﬂows based on interest rate and exchange

tax asset will not be realized to reduce the assets to their realizable

rate assumptions.

value. Considerable judgments are required in establishing deferred
tax valuation allowances and in assessing probable exposures

Interest Rate and Debt Sensitivity Analysis

related to tax matters. Praxair’s tax returns are subject to audit and

At December 31, 2004, Praxair had debt totaling $3,525 million

local taxing authorities could challenge the company’s tax posi-

($2,816 million at December 31, 2003). There were no interest-

tions. The company’s practice is to review tax-ﬁling positions by

rate swap agreements outstanding at December 31, 2004 and

jurisdiction and to record provisions for probable tax assessments,

2003, respectively. Interest-rate swaps are entered into as hedges

including interest and penalties, if applicable. Praxair believes

of underlying ﬁnancial instruments to effectively change the

it records and/or discloses such potential tax liabilities as appropri-

characteristics of the interest rate without actually changing the

ate and has reasonably estimated its income tax liabilities and

underlying ﬁnancial instrument. For ﬁxed-rate instruments, interest-

recoverable tax assets.

rate changes affect the fair market value but do not impact
earnings or cash ﬂows. Conversely, for ﬂoating-rate instruments,
interest-rate changes generally do not affect the fair market
value but impact future earnings and cash ﬂows, assuming other
factors are held constant.
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At December 31, 2004, Praxair had ﬁxed-rate debt of

OUTLOOK

$2,458 million and ﬂoating-rate debt of $1,067 million, representing 70% and 30%, respectively, of total debt. At December

For the full year of 2005, Praxair expects sales and operating-proﬁt

31, 2003, Praxair had ﬁxed-rate debt of $2,465 million and

growth in the range of 11% to 15% from 2004. The company

ﬂoating-rate debt of $351 million, representing 88% and 12%,

expects diluted earnings per share to be in the range of $2.33 to

respectively, of total debt. Holding other variables constant

$2.45, reﬂecting growth of 11% to 17%. This guidance assumes

(such as foreign exchange rates, swaps and debt levels), a one-

a higher effective tax rate of 26% for 2005, excluding the impact

percentage-point decrease in interest rates would increase

of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (see Note 7 to

the unrealized fair market value of the ﬁxed-rate debt by approxi-

the consolidated ﬁnancial statements). This growth level includes

mately $97 million ($119 million in 2003). At December 31,

the absorption of integration costs associated with the two

2004 and 2003, the after-tax earnings and cash ﬂows impact

ﬁscal 2004 acquisitions, higher interest expense and the higher

for the subsequent year resulting from a one-percentage-

tax rate. This guidance excludes the impact of the adoption

point increase in interest rates would be approximately $7 and

of SFAS No. 123R, which will require the company to expense

$2 million, respectively, holding other variables constant.

stock options beginning no later than the third quarter of 2005.
The company estimates that the adoption of this standard’s

Exchange Rate Sensitivity Analysis

provisions will reduce reported diluted earnings per share by

Praxair’s exchange-rate exposures result primarily from its invest-

about $0.02 per quarter.

ments and ongoing operations in South America (primarily Brazil,
Argentina and Venezuela), Europe (primarily Spain, Italy and
Germany), Canada, Mexico, Asia (primarily China, India, Korea and

Full-year capital expenditures are expected to be in the
range of $700 million to $750 million.
Praxair provides quarterly updates on operating results,

Thailand) and other business transactions such as the procure-

material trends that may affect ﬁnancial performance, and ﬁnancial

ment of equipment from foreign sources. Among other techniques,

earnings guidance via earnings releases and investor teleconfer-

Praxair utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge these

ences. In addition, Praxair issues press releases whenever

exposures. At December 31, 2004, Praxair had $679 million

signiﬁcant events occur which may affect ﬁnancial performance.

notional amount ($512 million at December 31, 2003) of foreign

These materials are available on our website: www.praxair.com.

exchange contracts all of which ($502 million in 2003) are to
hedge recorded balance-sheet exposures or ﬁrm commitments.

FORWARD-LOOKING

STATEMENTS

At December 31, 2004, Praxair had no net income hedges
outstanding ($10 million notional at December 31, 2003).
Holding other variables constant, if there were a 10%

The forward-looking statements contained in this document
concerning demand for products and services, the expected

adverse change in foreign-currency exchange rates for the

macroeconomic environment, sales, margins and earnings growth

portfolio, the fair market value of foreign-currency contracts

rates, projected capital and acquisition spending, the impact

outstanding at December 31, 2004 would decrease by approxi-

of required changes in accounting, the impact of accounting and

mately $35 million ($38 million at December 31, 2003) all of

other estimates, and other ﬁnancial goals involve risks and

which at December 31, 2004 would be offset by an equal but

uncertainties, and are subject to change based on various factors.

offsetting gain or loss on the foreign-currency ﬂuctuation of

These risk factors include the impact of changes in worldwide and

the underlying exposure being hedged ($37 million at December

national economies, the performance of stock markets, the cost

31, 2003). The remaining $1 million at December 31, 2003

and availability of electric power, natural gas and other materials

would have impacted earnings.

and the ability to achieve price increases to offset such cost
increases, inﬂation in wages and other compensation, development of operational efﬁciencies, changes in foreign currencies,
changes in interest rates, the continued timely development
and acceptance of new products and processes, the impact of
competitive products and pricing, and the impact of tax, accounting and other legislation, litigation and government regulation in
the jurisdictions in which the company operates and the effectiveness and speed of integrating new acquisitions into the business.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1.

SUMMARY

ACCOUNTING

OF

SIGNIFICANT

POLICIES

the period determined. For contracts that contain multiple products
and/or services, amounts assigned to each component are based
on its objectively determined fair value, such as the sales price

Operations – Praxair, Inc. (Praxair or company) is one of the

for the component when it is sold separately or competitor prices

largest industrial gases companies worldwide, the largest in

for similar components. Sales returns and allowances are not a

North and South America. Praxair produces, sells and distributes

normal practice in the industry and are de minimis.

atmospheric, process and specialty gases, and high-performance

Amounts billed for shipping and handling fees are recorded

surface coatings to a diverse group of industries including

as sales, generally on FOB destination terms, and costs incurred

aerospace, chemicals, electronics, energy, food and beverage,

for shipping and handling are recorded as cost of sales.

healthcare, manufacturing and metals.
Cash Equivalents – Cash equivalents are considered to be highly
Principles of Consolidation – The consolidated ﬁnancial state-

liquid securities with original maturities of three months or less.

ments include the accounts of all signiﬁcant subsidiaries where
control exists and, in limited situations, variable-interest entities

Inventories – Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market.

where the company is the primary beneﬁciary. Equity investments

Cost is determined using the last-in, ﬁrst-out (LIFO) method for

generally consist of 20% to 50% owned operations where the

certain U.S. operations and the average-cost method for most

company exercises signiﬁcant inﬂuence. Operations less than 20%

other operations.

owned, where the company does not exercise signiﬁcant inﬂuence,
are generally carried at cost. Pre-tax income from equity investments

Property, Plant and Equipment – Net – Property, plant and

that are partnerships or limited-liability corporations (LLC) is included

equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation.

in Other income (expenses) – net with related taxes included in

The company capitalizes interest as part of the cost of construct-

Income taxes and remaining equity earnings are reported as Income

ing major facilities (see Note 6). Depreciation is calculated on

from equity investments, net of income taxes. Partnership and

the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the

LLC net assets are reported as Equity investments in the balance

assets, which range from 3 years to 40 years (see Note 10).

sheet. Signiﬁcant inter-company transactions are eliminated and

Praxair uses accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes

any signiﬁcant related-party transactions have been disclosed.

where appropriate.

Use of Estimates – The preparation of ﬁnancial statements in

circumstances and events indicate that the carrying amount of

conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make esti-

an individual asset or grouping of assets may not be recoverable.

mates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets

Should projected undiscounted cash ﬂows be less than the

and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and to disclose contingent

carrying amount of the asset, an impairment charge reducing the

assets and liabilities at the date of the ﬁnancial statements during

carrying amount to fair value is required. Fair value is determined

the reporting period. While actual results could differ, management

based on the most appropriate valuation technique, including

believes such estimates to be reasonable.

discounted cash ﬂows.

Revenue Recognition – Revenue is recognized when: a ﬁrm sales

Foreign Currency Translation – For international subsidiaries

agreement exists; product is shipped or services are provided to

where the local currency is the functional currency, translation

customers; and collectibility of the ﬁxed or determinable sales price

gains and losses are reported as part of the Accumulated other

is reasonably assured. A small portion of the company’s revenues

comprehensive income (loss) component of Shareholders’ equity

relate to long-term construction contracts and are recognized

as a cumulative translation adjustment (see Note 9). For interna-

using the percentage-of-completion method. Under this method,

tional subsidiaries operating in hyperinﬂationary economies,

revenues from sales of major equipment, such as large air separa-

the U.S. dollar is the functional currency and translation gains

tion facilities, are recognized primarily based on cost incurred to

and losses are included in income.

The company performs a test for impairment whenever

date compared with total estimated cost. Changes to total
estimated cost and anticipated losses, if any, are recognized in
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Financial Instruments – Praxair enters into various derivative

Praxair records hedging activity related to debt instruments

ﬁnancial instruments to manage its exposure to ﬂuctuating interest

in Interest expense and hedging related to lease obligations and

and currency-exchange rates and energy costs. Such instruments

commodity contracts in Operating proﬁt. The company recognizes

primarily include interest-rate swap agreements; currency swap,

the changes in the fair value associated with currency contracts as

forward contracts; and commodity-swap agreements. These

follows: hedges of balance-sheet exposures, ﬁrm commitments

instruments are not entered into for trading purposes. Praxair only

and anticipated future net income are recognized in Other income

uses commonly traded and non-leveraged instruments. There are

(expense) – net and generally offset the underlying hedged items;

two types of derivatives the company enters into: hedges of fair-

hedges of net investments in foreign subsidiaries are recognized

value exposures and hedges of cash-ﬂow exposures. Fair-value

in the cumulative translation adjustment component of Accumulated

exposures relate to recognized assets or liabilities, and ﬁrm

other comprehensive income (loss) on the consolidated balance

commitments; while cash-ﬂow exposures relate to the variability of

sheet to offset translation gains and losses associated with the

future cash ﬂows associated with recognized assets or liabilities,

hedged net investment.

or forecasted transactions.
When a derivative is executed and hedge accounting is

Praxair uses the following methods and assumptions
to estimate the fair value of each class of ﬁnancial instrument.

appropriate, it is designated as either a fair-value hedge or a cash-

The fair value of interest-rate swaps and currency-exchange

ﬂow hedge. Currently, Praxair designates all interest-rate and

contracts is estimated based on market prices obtained from

commodity-swap agreements as hedges; however, currency

independent dealer or market quotes. The fair value of long-term

contracts are generally not designated as hedges for accounting

debt is estimated based on the quoted market prices for the

purposes. All derivatives are linked to an appropriate underlying

same or similar issues. Due to their nature, the carrying value of

exposure. On an ongoing basis, the company assesses the hedge

cash, short-term investments and short-term debt, receivables

effectiveness of all derivatives designated as hedges to determine

and payables approximates fair value.

if they continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash ﬂows of the underlying hedged items. If it is

Goodwill – When a business is acquired, the excess of the

determined that the hedge is not highly effective, then hedge

purchase price over the fair value of the assets and liabilities

accounting will be discontinued prospectively.

acquired is recorded as goodwill (see Note 12). Goodwill is

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated

reviewed annually in April and when circumstances or other events

as fair-value hedges are recognized in earnings as an offset to

indicate that impairment may have occurred. The impairment test

the change in the fair values of the exposures being hedged.

requires that the company estimate and compare the fair value

The changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated as

of its reporting units to their carrying value. Fair value is determined

cash-ﬂow hedges are deferred in Accumulated other comprehen-

through the use of projected future cash ﬂows, multiples of

sive income (loss) and are recognized in earnings as the underly-

earnings and sales, and other factors.

ing hedged transaction occurs. Any ineffectiveness is recognized
in earnings immediately. Derivatives that are entered into for

Other Intangible Assets – Patents are recorded at historical cost

risk-management purposes and are not designated as hedges

and are amortized over their remaining useful lives. License/use

(primarily related to projected net income and currency derivatives

agreements, non-compete agreements and other intangibles are

other than for ﬁrm commitments) are recorded at their fair market

amortized over the estimated period of beneﬁt. The determination

values and recognized in current earnings.

of the estimated period of beneﬁt will be dependent upon the
use and underlying characteristics of the intangible asset. Praxair
evaluates the recoverability of its intangible assets subject to amortization when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of the asset may not be recoverable. If the carrying value is
not recoverable, impairment is measured as the amount by which
the carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value. Fair value
is generally estimated based on either appraised value or other
valuation techniques.
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Income Taxes – Deferred income taxes are recorded for the

basic and diluted earnings per share amounts would be

temporary differences between the ﬁnancial statement and tax

as follows:

bases of assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates.
Valuation allowances are established against deferred tax assets

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS,
Year Ended December 31,

whenever circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not

Net Income

EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

2003

2002

$ 585

$ 409

Pension and Other Retirement Programs – Most Praxair

As reported
$ 697
Less: total stock-based employee
compensation expense determined under
fair value based method for all awards,
net of related tax effects
(27)

employees worldwide are covered by various pension plans.

Pro forma net income

$ 670

$ 558

$ 384

The cost of pension beneﬁts under these plans is determined

Basic Earnings Per Share

$2.14
$2.06

$1.79
$1.71

$1.26
$1.18

$2.10
$2.02

$1.77
$1.69

$1.24
$1.17

that such assets will not be realized in future periods. The provision for income taxes includes probable exposures for tax matters.

using the “projected-unit-credit” actuarial cost method.
Funding of pension plans varies and is in accordance with
local laws and practices.
Praxair accrues the cost of retiree life and health insurance

As reported
Pro forma

2004

(27)

(25)

Diluted Earnings Per Share

As reported
Pro forma

beneﬁts during the employees’ service period when such beneﬁts
are earned.

The weighted average fair value of options granted during
2004 was $10.67 ($9.24 in 2003 and $10.69 in 2002). These

Post-employment Benefits – Praxair recognizes the estimated

values, which were used as a basis for the pro forma disclosures,

cost of future beneﬁts provided to former and inactive employees

were estimated using the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing Model

after employment but before retirement on the accrual basis.

with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants
in 2004, 2003 and 2002:

Stock Split – On October 28, 2003, Praxair’s board of directors
declared a two-for-one split of the company’s common stock.
The stock split was effected in the form of a stock dividend of one
additional share for each share owned by stockholders of record
on December 5, 2003, and each share held in treasury as of

Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

Dividend yield
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term years

1.4%
32.5%
3.0%
5

1.3%
36.5%
2.9%
6

1.2%
35.8%
4.5%
6

the record date. Information pertaining to shares, earnings per
share and dividends per share has been restated in the accompanying ﬁnancial statements.

These pro forma disclosures may not be representative of
the effects for future years as options vest over several years and
additional awards generally are made each year. Refer to the

Stock-based Compensation – Praxair accounts for incentive

discussion below addressing the issuance of SFAS No. 123R.

plans and stock options using the provisions of Accounting
Principles Board Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Employees.” Pro forma information required by SFAS 123,

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board

“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by

(FASB) issued a revision to SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures

SFAS 148, requires Praxair to disclose pro forma net income

about Pensions and Other Postretirement Beneﬁts,” which requires

and pro forma earnings per share amounts as if compensation

new annual disclosures about the types of plan assets, investment

expense was recognized based on fair values for options

strategy, measurement date, plan obligations and cash ﬂows as well

granted after 1994. Pro forma net income and the related

as the components of the net periodic beneﬁt cost recognized
in interim periods. This statement became effective December 31,
2003 for Praxair except for the requirements to disclose future
beneﬁt payments and international plan asset information, which
became effective December 31, 2004. Accordingly, Praxair has
expanded its pension disclosures (see Note 19).
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During 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force reached a

In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS No.

consensus on Issue 04-10, “Determining Whether to Aggregate

123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” entitled SFAS

Operating Segments That Do Not Meet the Quantitative

No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment.” This statement,

Thresholds.” The issue addresses how an entity should evaluate

among other things, requires companies to expense the value of

the aggregation criteria for operating segments in SFAS No. 131,

employee stock options and similar awards and becomes effective

“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related

for interim and annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005,

Information.” The task force reached a consensus that operating

and applies to all outstanding and unvested share-based payment

segments must always have similar economic characteristics and

awards at the company’s adoption date. Praxair plans to adopt

meet a majority of the remaining ﬁve aggregation criteria speciﬁed

the provisions of this statement for its interim period beginning July

in SFAS No. 131. The task force also agreed to postpone the

1, 2005 and the company has yet to select its transition method.

effective date of the consensus to coincide with the effective date

This statement’s provisions are expected to reduce diluted

of an anticipated FASB staff position that will address the meaning

earnings per share by about $0.02 per quarter once adopted.

of similar economic characteristics. The company will continue to

The company does not anticipate making signiﬁcant changes for

monitor future developments but does not anticipate any signiﬁ-

2005 to its compensation strategy. See Note 18 for information

cant impact on the determination of its reportable segments.

related to incentive plans and stock options.

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP)

In December 2004, the FASB issued two FSPs to address

106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to

accounting issues resulting from the enactment of the American

the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization

Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (Jobs Creation Act), which occurred

Act of 2003,” which superseded FSP 106-1 of the same name

on October 22, 2004. The ﬁrst, FSP 109-1, “Application of FASB

and provides guidance on how to account for the impact of the

Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” to the

Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act

Tax Deduction on Qualiﬁed Production Activities Provided by the

of 2003 on postretirement health care plans. The act established

American Jobs Creation Act of 2004,” was issued to address

a prescription drug beneﬁt under Medicare, known as “Medicare

whether a deduction for qualiﬁed production activities income

Part D,” and a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care

should be accounted for as a deduction under SFAS No. 109 or as

beneﬁt plans that provide a beneﬁt that is at least actuarially

a tax rate reduction. This FSP is not expected to have a material

equivalent to Medicare Part D. In late January 2005, the Center

impact on the company’s ﬁnancial position or results of operations.

for Medicare and Medicaid Services released the regulations for

The second, FSP 109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance

implementing the act. Based on these regulations, the company

for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American

believes the beneﬁts provided to certain participants will be at

Jobs Creation Act of 2004,” addresses whether an enterprise

least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D and, accordingly,

should be allowed additional time beyond the 2004 ﬁnancial

the company will be entitled to a subsidy. This subsidy is not

reporting period to evaluate the impact of the Jobs Creation Act

reﬂected in any of the amounts shown in these ﬁnancial state-

and plans for unremitted foreign earnings repatriation. The FSP

ments and the overall impact of the expected subsidy has yet to

provides an entity with additional time to evaluate the effect of the

be determined but is not expected to be material to Praxair’s

Jobs Creation Act, which is an exception to the provisions of SFAS

results of operations or ﬁnancial position.

No. 109 that require an entity to adjust its deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the effects of a change in tax laws or rates in the
period that includes the enactment date. See Note 7 where the
company addresses the impact of the act to the company.
Reclassifications – Certain prior years’ amounts have been
reclassiﬁed to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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2.

ACCOUNTING

German Aquisition

CHANGE

On December 2, 2004, Praxair acquired certain industrial gas

Praxair adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible

assets and related businesses in Germany from Air Liquide S.A. for

Assets,” effective January 1, 2002. Under the provisions of the

a purchase price of €497 million plus acquisition and other costs

standard, companies no longer amortize goodwill or indeﬁnite-lived

of €7 million (or $667 million). The acquisition resulted in approxi-

intangible assets (see Notes 12 and 13). The provisions required

mately $255 million of goodwill. Intangible assets acquired of

the company to perform an initial assessment of whether there is

approximately $28 million consist of covenants not to compete,

an indication that the carrying value of goodwill is impaired. During

land rights and other intangible assets which are being amortized

the second quarter of 2002, Praxair completed the initial impair-

over a weighted-average life of 10 years. The purchase was funded

ment test and concluded that certain of its goodwill was impaired,

largely by a €450 million, ﬁve-year revolving credit arrangement

resulting in a non-cash after-tax charge of $139 million or $0.42

which Praxair entered into with a syndicate of international banks

per share on a diluted basis. The charge includes the $144 million

in November 2004 (see Note 14). The assets and businesses

goodwill write-down, a $2 million charge for goodwill held on an

acquired consist of industrial gas plants and pipeline assets in the

equity investment, which was recorded as a write-down of the

Rhine/Ruhr and Saar areas, and bulk distribution and packaged gas

investment, and is also net of a $7 million tax beneﬁt. The charge

businesses. The businesses serve large customers in the reﬁning,

was recorded as a cumulative effect of an accounting change,

chemical and steel industries along the pipeline systems, plus about

retroactive to January 1, 2002.

40,000 smaller customers in bulk, medical, specialty and packaged
gases and generated approximately €177 million (or $199 million)

The following is a summary of the impairment charge by business

of revenues in 2003. The acquisition signiﬁcantly strengthened

segment, net of a $7 million tax beneﬁt:

Praxair’s operations in the Germany and Benelux regions.

(MILLIONS
Segment

OF DOLLARS)

South America
Europe (a)
Asia
Surface Technologies

Reporting Unit

Southern Cone, Andean Region
Poland, Israel
India
Aviation Services

Charge

$ 80
20
17
22
$139

(a)

Includes $2 million related to a non-consolidated equity investment.

Home Care Supply (HCS)

On June 15, 2004, Praxair acquired 100% of the outstanding
common shares of Home Care Supply, Inc. (HCS) for a purchase
price of $245 million. The acquisition resulted in approximately
$175 million of goodwill. Intangible assets acquired of approximately $12 million consist of customer relationships and
covenants not to compete which are being amortized over a
weighted-average life of 3 years. Headquartered in Beaumont,

This assessment must be conducted at least annually at the

Texas, HCS was the largest privately held home respiratory

reporting-unit level, and any such impairment must be recorded as

and medical equipment provider in the United States with

a charge to operating earnings. The annual impairment tests for

59 locations in 13 states, which generated 2003 revenues of

2004, 2003 and 2002 were performed and no additional impair-

$169 million. The acquisition expanded Praxair’s home healthcare

ments were indicated.

presence from the mid-Atlantic to Texas, provides an excellent

3.

platform for sustained growth and will further accelerate Praxair’s
hospital-to-home strategy.
ACQUISITIONS

Other acquisitions in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were not signiﬁcant.

The results of operations of the following acquired businesses
have been included in Praxair’s consolidated statement of income

The allocations of the excess purchase price are based upon

since their respective dates of acquisition.

preliminary estimates and assumptions. Accordingly, the allocations are subject to revision when the company receives ﬁnal
information, including appraisals and other analyses.
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4.

SEGMENT

INFORMATION

(MILLIONS

OF DOLLARS)

2004

2003

2002

Sales

The company’s operations are organized into ﬁve reportable
segments, four of which have been determined on a geographic
basis of segmentation: North America, Europe, South America and
Asia. In addition, Praxair operates its worldwide surface technologies business through its wholly owned subsidiary, Praxair Surface
Technologies, Inc., which represents the ﬁfth reportable segment.
The All Other category comprises unallocated corporate items.
Praxair’s operations consist of two major product lines,
industrial gases and surface technologies. The industrial gases
product line centers on the manufacturing and distribution
of atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, rare gases) and
process gases (carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic
gases, specialty gases, acetylene). Many of these products are
co-products of the same manufacturing process. Praxair manufactures and distributes nearly all of its products and manages its
customer relationships on a regional basis. Praxair’s industrial gases

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface Technologies
Eliminations

merchant liquid; and packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution
methods are generally integrated in order to best meet the customer’s needs and very few of its products can be economically
transported outside of a region. Therefore, the distribution econom-

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface Technologies
All Other

performance.
Praxair evaluates the performance of its reportable segments
based primarily on operating proﬁt, excluding inter-company

Total Assets

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface Technologies

globally managed expenses, and research and development costs
relating to Praxair’s global industrial gases business, are allocated
to operating segments based on sales. Long-lived assets include
property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets and goodwill.
The table below presents information about reported
segments for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003,
and 2002:

North America
Europe
South America
Asia
Surface Technologies

$5,613

$5,128

$ 623
214
152
80
34
—

$ 548
170
114
64
26
—

$ 557
139
134
51
35
7

$1,103

$ 922

$ 923

$5,210
1,866
1,405
847
550

$4,638
1,145
1,275
707
540

$4,366
852
1,016
653
514

$ 9,878

$8,305

$7,401

$ 344
72
70
55
37

$ 313
59
60
50
35

$ 296
49
61
43
34

$ 578

$ 517

$ 483

$ 573
756
96
153
19

$ 763
115
88
56
34

$ 359
69
98
59
26

$1,597

$1,056

$ 611

$3,367
700
2,527

$2,834
557
2,222

$2,709
487
1,932

$6,594

$5,613

$5,128

$3,454
813
746
2,572

$3,260
765
68
2,290

$3,020
592
59
2,030

$ 7,585

$6,383

$5,701

Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions

North America (Notes 3 and 5)
Europe (Note 3)
South America
Asia
Surface Technologies
Sales by Major Country

United States
Brazil
Other — foreign
Long-lived Assets by Major Country

United States
Brazil
Germany (Note 3)
Other — foreign

(a)

Includes equity investments as of December 31 as follows:

(MILLIONS

OF DOLLARS)

North America
Europe
Surface Technologies
Asia

48

$6,594

Depreciation and Amortization

royalties and special charges. Sales are determined based on the
country in which the legal subsidiary is domiciled. Corporate and

$3,351
589
632
324
394
(162)

(a)

ics are speciﬁc to the various geographies in which the company
operates and is consistent with how management assesses

$3,627
699
708
389
400
(210)

Operating Profit

are distributed to various end markets within a regional segment
through one of three basic distribution methods: on-site or tonnage;

$4,191
847
866
487
447
(244)

2004

2003

2002

$ 52
132
—
26

$ 53
110
1
18

$ 70
92
(2)
24

$210

$182

$184

5.

LEASES

6.

SUPPLEMENTARY

INCOME

STATEMENT

INFORMATION

Operating leases, primarily involving manufacturing and distribution equipment and ofﬁce space, represent non-cancelable
commitments extending for more than one year which require
future minimum payments totaling $288 million at December 31,
2004 as follows: 2005, $67 million; 2006, $55 million; 2007,

(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
Year Ended December 31,

Selling
General and administrative

$41 million; 2008, $28 million; 2009, $19 million; and $78 million
thereafter. The present value of these future lease payments under
operating leases is approximately $248 million. Included in the
future minimum payments are $15 million of lease commitments
to Praxair’s former parent company, principally for ofﬁce space.
Total lease and rental expenses under operating leases were
$88 million in 2004, $93 million in 2003, and $96 million in 2002.
During June 2003, Praxair terminated leases for U.S. liquid
storage equipment and distribution equipment, and for production
facilities along the U.S. Gulf Coast and purchased the underlying
equipment for a total of $339 million. The equipment leases
originated in 1998 and 1999 in sale-leaseback transactions.
On June 30, 2003, Praxair purchased the equipment for $230 million and reduced the carrying value of the equipment by deferred
gains of $152 million from the original sale-leaseback transactions.
The U.S. Gulf Coast leases were initiated by CBI Industries, Inc.

and purchased the production facility assets for approximately
$109 million.

2003

2002

$424
445

$375
391

$356
395

$869

$766

$751

$565
13

$510
7

$478
5

$ 578

$517

$483

$

$

$

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation
Amortization of other intangibles
Other Income (Expenses) – Net

Investment income
Net income hedges (Note 15)
Other currency
Partnership income
Severance expense
Resolution of prior divestiture matter
Other – net

2
(2)
(1)
15
(10)
13
3

—
(9)
(4)
10
(12)
—
10

9
17
1
9
(3)
—
15

$ 20

$ (5)

$ 48

$167
—
(7)

$165
—
(9)

$202
15
(9)

Interest Expense

Interest incurred on debt
Bond call premium
Interest capitalized
Amortization of swap termination costs
(Note 15)

(CBI) and were subsequently assumed by Praxair in its acquisition
of CBI in 1996. On June 27, 2003, Praxair terminated the leases

2004

Selling, General and Administrative

(5)

(5)

(2)

$155

$151

$206

$ (30)
—

$ (24)
—

$ (19)
(1)

$ (30)

$ (24)

$ (20)

Minority Interests

Minority interests
Preferred stock dividends
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7.

PROVISION

FOR

INCOME

During 2002, the company recognized $15 million of tax

TAXES

beneﬁts related to foreign net operating losses.

Pre-tax income applicable to U.S. and foreign operations is

During 2004, the taxing authority in Mexico decreased its

as follows:

top marginal tax rate, resulting in an income-tax beneﬁt of $2
million. During 2003, the taxing authority in Italy decreased its top

(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

United States
Foreign

$281
667

$213
558

$233
484

Total income before income taxes

$948

$771

$717

marginal rate. During 2002, taxing authorities in Belgium, Canada,
France and Italy decreased their top marginal tax rates. The effects
of the tax-rate changes in 2003 and 2002 were immaterial.
A provision has not been made for additional U.S. federal or
foreign taxes at December 31, 2004 on $1.7 billion of undistrib-

The following is an analysis of the provision for income taxes:

uted earnings of foreign subsidiaries because Praxair has planned
to reinvest these funds indeﬁnitely. These earnings could become

(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

Current tax expense
U.S. federal
State and local
Foreign

$ 41
4
98

$ 39
1
101

$ 25
5
91

2004, the President signed the American Jobs Creation Act of

143

141

121

temporary incentive for U.S. corporations to repatriate accumu-

subject to additional tax if they are remitted as dividends, loaned to
Praxair, or upon sale of the subsidiary’s stock. On October 22,

Deferred tax expense (benefit)
U.S. federal
Foreign
Total income taxes

41
48

(9)
42

50
(13)

89

33

37

$232

$ 174

$158

2004 (Jobs Creation Act). The Jobs Creation Act creates a
lated income earned abroad by providing an 85-percent dividendsreceived deduction for certain dividends from controlled foreign
corporations. The deduction is subject to a number of limitations
and, as of today, uncertainty remains as to how to interpret
numerous provisions in the Jobs Creation Act. However, based on
analysis to date, it is reasonably possible that the company may

An analysis of the difference between the provision for income

repatriate up to $1.1 billion, with the respective tax liability ranging

taxes and the amount computed by applying the U.S. statutory

up to $90 million. Praxair expects to ﬁnalize its assessment

income tax rate to pre-tax income follows:

during the second or third quarter of 2005, at which time any

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)
Year Ended December 31,

U.S. statutory income
tax rate
State and local taxes
U.S. tax credits and
deductions (a)
Foreign tax rate
differentials (b)
Tax audit settlements (c)
Other — net
Provision for income
taxes

impact will be recognized.
2004

2003

2002

through 1999 and the company is currently undergoing an audit
$270
1

35.0%
0.1%

$332
6

35.0%
0.6%

(13)

-1.3%

(23)

-3.0%

(87)
(3)
(3)

-9.2%
-0.3%
-0.3%

(53)
(10)
(11)

-6.8%
-1.3%
-1.4%

$232

24.5%

$174

22.6%

$251
3
(4)

35.0%
0.4%
-0.6%

(92) -12.8%
—
0.0%
—
0.0%
$158

22.0%

(a)

U.S. tax credits and deductions relate to research and experimentation tax credits,
capital loss deductions and donations of certain intellectual property.

(b)

Foreign tax rate differentials include various tax incentives in Spain. The company
also operates in various jurisdictions in Asia and South America that currently
offer tax holidays.

(c)

The tax audit settlements represent non-recurring benefits resulting from the
settlement of various tax matters in the U.S.
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The company’s U.S. federal tax returns have been audited
for its 2000, 2001 and 2002 tax years.

8.

EARNINGS

PER

9.

SHARE

SUPPLEMENTARY

BALANCE

SHEET

INFORMATION

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for
the period by the weighted average number of Praxair common
shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed

(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
December 31,

by dividing net income for the period by the weighted average

Trade
Other

number of Praxair common shares outstanding and dilutive
common stock equivalents, as follows:

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (a)
2004
Numerator ( M I L L I O N S

2003

2002

OF DOLLARS)

Inventories

Income before cumulative effect
of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change

$697
—

$585
—

$548
(139)

Net income

$697

$585

$409

324,706

325,198

324,311

1,185

1,190

1,225

325,891

326,388

325,536

205
5,307

269
4,334

55
3,898

331,403

330,991

329,489

$2.14
$2.14

$1.79
$1.79

$1.68
$1.26

Denominator ( T H O U S A N D S

OF SHARES)

Weighted average shares outstanding
Shares earned and issuable under
compensation plans
Weighted average shares used
in basic earnings per share
Effect of dilutive securities
Convertible debt
Employee stock options
Weighted average shares
used in diluted earnings per share
Basic Earnings Per Common Share

Income before cumulative effect
of accounting change
Net income
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share

Income before cumulative effect
of accounting change
Net income

2003

$1,229
65

$ 975
44

1,294
(63)

1,019
(57)

$1,231

$ 962

$

$

(b)

Raw materials and supplies
Work in process
Finished goods

87
37
204

83
33
186

$ 328

$ 302

$

$

Prepaid and Other Current Assets

Deferred income taxes (Note 11)
Pension assets (Note 19)
Prepaid
Other

85
—
34
41

66
7
45
17

$ 160

$ 135

$

$

Other Long-term Assets

Pension assets (Note 19)
Insurance contracts (c)
Long-term notes receivable
Deposits
Investments carried at cost
Deferred charges
Other

72
70
47
33
13
12
92

60
73
41
27
12
12
66

$ 339

$ 291

$ 200
101
114
31
26
12
9
102

$ 130
76
87
30
29
18
7
68

$ 595

$ 445

$ 467
34
448

$ 491
30
395

$ 949

$ 916

$ 317
28

$ 299
29

$ 345

$ 328

Other Current Liabilities

$2.10
$2.10

$1.77
$1.77

$1.66
$1.24

Stock options for 40,000 and 2,420,200 shares were not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2002, respectively, because
the exercise prices were greater than the average market price
of the common stock. In 2003, no stock options were excluded
from the computation.

2004

Accounts Receivable

Accrued expenses
Payrolls
Pension and postretirement costs (Note 19)
Interest payable
Employee benefit accrual
Severance
Insurance reserves
Other
Other Long-term Liabilities

Pension and postretirement costs (Note 19)
Insurance reserves
Other
Deferred Credits

Deferred income taxes (Note 11)
Other
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(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
December 31,

2004

2003

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Cumulative translation adjustment
North America
South America (d)
Europe
Asia
Surface Technologies
Derivatives – net of taxes (e)
Minimum pension liability (net of $84 million and
$53 million taxes in 2004 and 2003, respectively)

11.

DEFERRED

INCOME

TAXES

Net deferred tax liabilities are comprised of the following:
$ (142)
(955)
91
(41)
25

$ (165)
(1,041)
7
(61)
8

(1,022)
(1)

(1,252)
(1)

(157)

(99)

$(1,180)

$(1,352)

(a)

Provisions to the allowance for doubtful accounts were $24 million, $26 million
and $40 million in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

(b)

Approximately 19% of total inventories were valued using the LIFO method at
December 31, 2004 and 2003. If inventories had been valued at current costs,
they would have been approximately $24 million and $25 million higher than
reported at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(c)

Consists primarily of insurance contracts to be utilized for a non-qualified pension
and OPEB obligations (see Note 19).

(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
December 31,

2004

2003

$832
12
35

$765
12
25

879

802

298
127
96
84
58
12
84

234
157
92
53
28
14
90

759
(112)

668
(99)

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Fixed assets
State and local
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Deferred Tax Assets

Carryforwards
Benefit plans and related
Alternative minimum tax and other credits
Minimum pension liability
Research and development
Inventory
Other
Less: Valuation allowances

(d)

Consists primarily of currency translation adjustments in Brazil and Argentina.

Total deferred tax assets

647

569

(e)

The derivatives component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
relates to the adoption of SFAS 133.

Net deferred tax liabilities

$232

$233

Recorded as:
Current deferred tax assets (Note 9)
Long-term deferred tax liabilities (Note 9)

$ 85
317

$ 66
299

$232

$233

10.

Net deferred tax liabilities

PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT

–

NET

The valuation allowances increased $13 million in 2004
Signiﬁcant classes of property, plant and equipment are

primarily relating to the effects of foreign currency translation in

as follows:

Brazil. At December 31, 2004, Praxair has $298 million of

(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
December 31,

Machinery and equipment
Buildings
Construction in progress and other
Land and land improvements
Less: accumulated depreciation

deferred tax assets relating to net operating loss and other tax
2004

2003

$10,674
718
403
239

$ 9,504
643
421
227
10,795
(5,543)

12,034
(6,088)
$ 5,946

$ 5,252

credit carryforwards (primarily foreign). Approximately $119 million
expires principally through 2018. The remaining carryforwards,
relating mainly to Brazil, will never expire but are subject to annual
usage limitations. A valuation allowance of $112 million has
been established related to these carryforwards. Praxair evaluates
deferred tax assets quarterly to ensure that estimated future
taxable income will be sufﬁcient in character (e.g. capital gain
versus ordinary income treatment), amount and timing to result

Machinery and equipment includes production plants,

in their recovery. After considering the positive and negative

tanks, cylinders, transportation equipment and other assets that

evidence, a valuation allowance is established when management

have useful lives of 3 to 30 years. Buildings have useful lives

determines that it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset

of 25 to 40 years and land improvements have useful lives of up

will not be realized to reduce the assets to their realizable value.

to 20 years.

Considerable judgments are required in establishing deferred tax
valuation allowances, which are evaluated quarterly.
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12.

GOODWILL

Praxair adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” effective January 1, 2002 (see Note 2). The standard required the
company to perform an initial assessment of whether there was an indication that the carrying value of goodwill was impaired and to
conduct a new test at least annually at the reporting unit level. The annual impairment tests for 2003 and 2004 were performed during
the second quarter of each year and no impairments were indicated.
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

(MILLIONS

North
America

OF DOLLARS)

$759
26
(13)
12

Balance, December 31, 2002

Acquisitions
Purchase adjustments (a)
Foreign currency translation

$ 99
—
(2)
27

784
180
(1)
11

Balance, December 31, 2003

Acquisitions
Purchase adjustments
Foreign currency translation

124
—
—
14

$ 974

Balance, December 31, 2004
(a)

South
America

$138

Europe

Asia

Surface
Technologies

$ 39
17
—
10

$20
5
—
1

$68
—
—
7

$ 985
48
(15)
57

26
1
—
1

75
—
—
5

1,075
436
(2)
42

$28

$80

66
255
(1)
11
$331

Total

$1,551

2003 purchase adjustments in North America pertain to the resolution of tax matters for previous years related to deferred income tax allowances on capital loss
carryforwards from the 1996 CBI acquisition. The adjustment to goodwill was offset by a corresponding adjustment to deferred income taxes included in deferred credits.

13.

OTHER

INTANGIBLE

Additions to intangible assets in 2004 primarily include

ASSETS

those acquired in connection with the acquisition of HCS in
The following is a summary of Praxair’s intangible assets subject to

June 2004 and the German Acquisition in December 2004 of

amortization at December 31, 2004 and 2003:

$12 million and $28 million, respectively (see Note 3).
There are no expected residual values related to these

(MILLIONS

OF DOLLARS)

2004

2003

$ 70
36
17

$ 41
31
17

123

89

(18)
(13)
(4)

(10)
(20)
(3)

Gross carrying amount

License/use agreements
Non-compete agreements
Patents and other
Less: accumulated amortization

License/use agreements
Non-compete agreements
Patents and other

(35)
$ 88

intangible assets. Amortization expense for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $13 million, $7 million
and $5 million, respectively. The remaining weighted-average
amortization period for intangible assets is approximately 12 years.
Total estimated annual amortization expense is as follows:
2005, $14 million; 2006, $11 million; 2007, $10 million; 2008,
$7 million; 2009, $7 million; and $39 million thereafter.

(33)
$ 56
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14.

During 2003, Praxair repaid $300 million of 6.75% notes

DEBT

and $75 million of 6.625% notes that were due on March 1, 2003

The following is a summary of Praxair’s outstanding debt at

and March 15, 2003, respectively. On April 15, 2003, Praxair repaid

December 31, 2004 and 2003:

$250 million of 6.15% notes that were due. The repayments were

(MILLIONS

OF DOLLARS)

2004

2003

Short-term

Commercial paper and U.S. borrowings
Canadian borrowings
South American borrowings
Asian borrowings
Other international borrowings
Total short-term debt

$

296
83
39
29
7

$

4
75
44
5
5
133

454

U.S. Borrowings
6.85% Notes due 2005
6.90% Notes due 2006
4.75% Notes due 2007 (a)
6.625% Notes due 2007
6.50% Notes due 2008
2.75% Notes due 2008 (a)
6.375% Notes due 2012 (a, b)
3.95% Notes due 2013 (a)
Commercial paper and U.S. borrowings
Other borrowings

150
250
249
250
250
299
534
349
—
23

150
250
249
250
250
299
539
349
218
42

European borrowings (Note 3)
South American borrowings
Asian borrowings
Other international borrowings
Obligations under capital lease

613
48
39
5
12

–
33
41
6
7

Less: current portion of long-term debt

3,071
(195)

2,683
(22)

Total long-term debt

2,876

2,661

$3,525

$2,816

(a))

2003 and June 2, 2003, respectively, Praxair issued $350 million
of 3.95% notes due 2013 and $300 million of 2.75% notes due
2008. The proceeds of these debt issuances were used to
reﬁnance commercial paper and purchase $339 million of previously leased assets. Also during 2003, $9 million of long-term debt
was assumed through the consolidation of an equity investment
in China.

Long-term

Total debt

funded through the issuance of commercial paper. On May 27,

Amounts are net of unamortized discounts.

December 31, 2004 and 2003 include a $35 million and $40 million fair value
increase, respectively, related to SFAS 133 hedge accounting (see Note 15).

(b)

During December 2004, Praxair terminated and replaced
its $1 billion credit agreement with a ﬁve-year $1 billion senior
unsecured credit facility with a syndicate of banks that expires in
2009. At December 31, 2003, Praxair classiﬁed $234 million
commercial paper and certain other short-term debt as long-term
because of the company’s intent to reﬁnance the debt on a longterm basis and the availability of such ﬁnancing under the terms of
its previous $1 billion credit agreement. At December 31, 2004,
such borrowings have been classiﬁed as current liabilities because
of the company’s intent to repay such borrowings within one year.
No borrowings were outstanding under either credit agreement at
December 31, 2004 or 2003. Associated fees were not signiﬁcant
in each of the past three years.
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the weighted-average
interest rate on commercial paper and U.S. bank borrowings was
1.5% and 1.2%, respectively.
Praxair’s major bank credit and long-term debt agreements
contain various covenants which may, among other things, restrict
the ability of Praxair to merge with another entity, incur or guaran-

On November 29, 2004, the company entered into

tee debt, sell or transfer certain assets, create liens against assets,

a €450 million, ﬁve-year borrowing facility with a syndicate of

enter into sale and leaseback agreements, or pay dividends

international banks. As of December 31, 2004, the amount

and make other distributions beyond certain limits. These agree-

outstanding against this facility was €450 million, or $613 million.

ments also require Praxair to meet leverage ratios as deﬁned in

The proceeds were used to acquire the German assets referenced

the agreements.

in Note 3. Such borrowings are classiﬁed as long-term because
of the company’s intent to reﬁnance this debt on a long-term basis
and the availability of such ﬁnancing under the terms of this
agreement. The weighted-average interest rate on this facility
at December 31, 2004 is 2.48%.
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Excluding the European credit facility, scheduled maturities

earnings and was equally offset with a charge to earnings for the

on long-term debt are: 2005, $195 million; 2006, $287 million;

changes in fair value of the underlying debt instrument. The fair

2007, $525 million; 2008, $557 million; 2009, $5 million and

value increase to the $500 million 6.375% notes of $47 million is

$889 million thereafter. At December 31, 2004, $77 million of

being recognized in earnings as a reduction to interest expense

Praxair’s assets (principally international ﬁxed assets) were

over the remaining original term of the underlying debt, or about ten

pledged as collateral for long-term debt including the current

years. The $47 million cash payment received upon termination

portion of long-term debt.

of the swap is shown in minority transactions and other in the ﬁnanc-

At December 31, 2004, the estimated fair value of Praxair’s

ing section in the 2002 consolidated statement of cash ﬂows.

long-term debt portfolio was $3,176 million versus a carrying value

For the year ended December 31, 2004, $5 million was recognized

of $3,071 million. At December 31, 2003, the estimated fair value

in earnings as a reduction to interest expense ($5 million and

of Praxair’s long-term debt portfolio was $2,957 million versus a

$2 million during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,

carrying value of $2,683 million. These differences are attributable

respectively) and $35 million remains unrecognized at December

to interest rate changes subsequent to when the debt was issued.

31, 2004 ($40 million at December 31, 2003) (see Note 14).

15.

Currency Contracts
FINANCIAL

Praxair enters into currency-exchange forward contracts to

INSTRUMENTS

manage its exposure to ﬂuctuations in foreign-currency exchange

The following table is a summary of the notional amount of

rates. Hedges of balance sheet items are related to recorded

currency derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003

balance sheet exposures, including inter-company transactions.

(all maturities within one year):

Hedges of ﬁrm commitments are for purchases of equipment

(MILLIONS

OF DOLLARS)

2004

2003

$679
—
—

$501
1
10

$679

$512

Currency contracts

Balance sheet items
Firm commitments
Anticipated net income

related to in-progress construction projects. Additionally,
at December 31, 2004, there is $7 million of notional value of
currency-exchange contracts that effectively offset each other
(none at December 31, 2003).
There are no net-income hedges outstanding at December
31, 2004. The net-income hedges outstanding at December 31,
2003 were related to anticipated 2004 net income in Canada.

At December 31, 2004, the fair value of all derivative

The amounts recorded in Other income (expenses) – net as

contracts has been recorded in the consolidated balance sheet

a result of net-income hedging contracts includes a loss

as $11 million in current assets ($4 million in current assets and

of $2 million in 2004, a loss of $9 million in 2003, and a gain

$2 million in current liabilities at December 31, 2003). There were

of $17 million in December 31, 2002 (see Note 6).

no interest-rate derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2004
or 2003.

Counterparties to currency-exchange forward contracts are
primarily major banking institutions with credit ratings of investment
grade or better and no collateral is required. There are no signiﬁ-

Interest Rate Swaps

cant risk concentrations. Management believes the risk of incurring

During 2002, Praxair entered into and terminated $500 million

losses on derivative contracts related to credit risk is remote and

notional amount of interest-rate swap agreements that effectively

any losses would be immaterial.

converted ﬁxed-rate interest to variable-rate interest on the $500
million 6.375% notes that mature in April 2012. The termination
resulted in a cash gain of $47 million, which Praxair recognized in
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16.

SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY

ratio of one share of Praxair common stock (and/or other securities, cash or other assets having equal value) per Right (subject

At December 31, 2004, there were 800,000,000 shares of

to adjustment). Also, under certain circumstances, each Right may

common stock authorized (par value $0.01 per share) of which

entitle the holder to purchase one one-hundredth share of pre-

359,790,504 shares were issued and 323,620,778 were

ferred stock or such amount of preferred stock may be substituted

outstanding.

for each share of common stock issuable upon the exercise or

In 2004, the board of directors of Praxair declared a
dividend of one purchase right (a “Right”) for each share of

exchange of a Right.
Praxair’s board of directors may redeem the Rights by a

Praxair’s common stock held of record at the close of business on

majority vote at any time prior to the 10th day following public

April 30, 2004; and that dividend was paid on May 3, 2004. On

announcement that a person or group has acquired 20 percent of

May 3, 2004, all prior Rights then outstanding expired. In addition,

Praxair’s common stock. In addition, under circumstances of a

one Right is deemed to be delivered with and attached to each

“qualifying offer” as deﬁned in the agreement by which the Rights

share of Praxair’s common stock issued after April 30, 2004 and

were issued (the Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement as

before the redemption or expiration of the Rights. Each Right

approved by Praxair’s shareholders at the April 27, 2004 Annual

entitles its registered holder, when exercised under certain

Meeting of Shareholders) the Rights may be redeemed upon the

circumstances, to purchase for $150.00 (subject to adjustment

vote, at a special meeting, in favor of such redemption by share-

and referred to as the “Exercise Price”) certain securities or assets

holders representing a majority of the shares then outstanding.

of Praxair or a surviving entity. The Rights will expire on May 2,
2009, unless exchanged or redeemed prior to that date or unless
extended by action of Praxair’s stockholders prior to that date.
The redemption price is $0.001 per Right.
The Rights may not be exercised until at least 10 days after

17.

PREFERRED

STOCK

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were 25,000,000 shares

a person or group acquires 20 percent or more of Praxair’s

of preferred stock (par value $0.01 per share) authorized, of which

common stock, or commences a tender offer that, if consummated,

no shares were issued and outstanding. No dividends may be

would result in 20 percent or more ownership of Praxair’s common

paid on Praxair common stock unless preferred stock dividends

stock. Separate Rights certiﬁcates will not be issued and the

have been paid, and the preferred stock has limited voting rights.

Rights will not be traded separately from the stock until such time.

Dividends on preferred stock are included in Minority interests

At no time will a Right confer any voting power to its holder.

on the consolidated statement of income.

Should an acquirer become the beneﬁcial owner of

In September 2002, the company redeemed all 200,000

20 percent or more of Praxair’s common stock (other than as

outstanding shares of its Series B 6.75% cumulative preferred

approved by Praxair’s board of directors) and under certain

stock at $100 per share, or $20 million. This is shown in the

additional circumstances, Praxair Right-holders (other than the

ﬁnancing section of the consolidated statement of cash ﬂows in

acquirer) would have the right to buy common stock in Praxair,

the caption minority transactions and other.

or in the surviving entity if Praxair is acquired, having a value of two
times the Exercise Price then in effect. Alternatively, Praxair’s board
of directors may elect to exchange all of the Rights (other than
the acquirer’s Rights which will have become void) at an exchange
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18.
STOCK

INCENTIVE

PLANS

The 2002 Plan also provides calendar year per-participant limits

AND

on grants of options, restricted stock and performance awards.

OPTIONS

Exercise prices for options granted under the 2002 Plan may not
As of March 1, 2001, the 1996 Praxair, Inc. Performance Incentive

be less than the closing market price of the company’s common

Plan (the 1996 Plan) was terminated, and at December 31, 2001,

stock on the date of grant and granted options may not be

the 1992 Praxair Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 1992 Plan) expired.

repriced or exchanged without shareholder approval. Options

Stock option and other incentive compensation awards granted by

granted under the 2002 Plan become exercisable after a minimum

the company through December 31, 2001 were made under these

of one year and have a maximum duration of ten years. Both ofﬁcer

plans. Both plans provided for granting nonqualiﬁed or incentive

and non-ofﬁcer employees are eligible for awards under the

stock options, stock grants, performance awards, and other stock-

2002 Plan.

related incentives for key employees. The exercise price for

The following table summarizes the changes in outstanding

incentive stock options was equal to the closing price of Praxair’s

shares under option and performance share equivalents for 2004,

common stock on the date of the grant. Options that were granted

2003 and 2002 (options are expressed in thousands):

under both plans became exercisable only after one or more years
and the option term could be no more than ten years.
On February 28, 2001, the board of directors of the
company adopted the 2002 Praxair, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan
(the 2002 Plan), which became effective on January 1, 2002. The
shareholders approved the Plan at Praxair’s annual meeting in April
2001. Under the 2002 Plan, the initial number of shares available
for option or stock grants was limited to a total of 15,800,000
shares. In April 2004, the shareholders approved an increase to
the number of shares available for option or stock grants under the
2002 plan to 31,600,000 shares. As of December 31, 2004,
21,398,942 shares were available for option or stock grants under
this plan. The 2002 Plan provides for the granting of only nonqualiﬁed and incentive stock options, stock grants and performance
awards and further provides that the aggregate number of shares
granted as restricted stock or pursuant to performance awards

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Activity

Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2001
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired

31,004
2,648
(7,626)
(236)

$ 20.51
$ 28.38
$ 17.47
$ 23.86

Outstanding at December 31, 2002
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired

25,790
3,967
(7,052)
(251)

$ 22.18
$ 26.46
$ 20.16
$ 26.08

Outstanding at December 31, 2003
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired

22,454
3,945
(4,757)
(109)

$ 23.52
$ 36.67
$ 21.75
$ 26.18

Outstanding at December 31, 2004

21,533

$ 26.29

Exercisable at
December 31, 2002
December 31, 2003
December 31, 2004

17,240
13,985
14,205

$ 20.78
$ 22.10
$ 23.29

may not exceed 20% of the total shares available under the Plan.

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2004 (options are expressed in
thousands; averages are calculated on a weighted basis; life in years):
Outstanding

Exercisable

Average
Remaining
Life

Number
of
Options

Average
Exercise
Price

Number
of
Options

Average
Exercise
Price

$10.38 – $21.97
$22.01 – $25.56
$26.06 – $30.00
$36.58 – $44.27

4.1
5.1
7.3
9.2

3,536
5,944
8,144
3,909

$19.06
$22.45
$ 27.28
$36.67

3,536
5,941
4,728
—

$19.06
$ 22.45
$ 27.53
—

$10.38 – $44.27

6.5

21,533

$26.29

14,205

$ 23.29

Range of
Exercise Prices
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19.

RETIREMENT

PROGRAMS

U.S. employees other than those in the packaged gases
and healthcare businesses are eligible to participate in a deﬁned

Pensions – Praxair has two main U.S. retirement programs which

contribution savings plan. Employees may contribute up to 40%

are non-contributory deﬁned beneﬁt plans: the Praxair Pension

of their compensation, subject to the maximum allowable by IRS

Plan (formerly, the Retirement Program Plan for Employees

regulations. Company contributions to this plan are calculated

of Praxair, Inc. and Participating Subsidiary Companies) and the

on a graduated scale based on employee contributions to the plan.

CBI Pension Plan. The latter program primarily beneﬁts former

The cost for this plan was $12 million both in 2004 and 2003,

employees of CBI Industries, Inc. which Praxair acquired in 1996.

and $11 million in 2002, (the cost is not included in the tables

Effective July 1, 2002, the Praxair Retirement Program was

that follow).

amended to give participating employees a one-time choice to
remain covered by the old formula or to elect coverage under a

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) – Praxair

new formula. The old formula is based predominantly on years of

provides health care and life insurance beneﬁts to certain eligible

service, age and compensation levels prior to retirement, while the

retired employees. These beneﬁts are provided through various

new formula provides for an annual contribution to an individual

insurance companies and health care providers. Praxair is also

account which grows with interest each year at a predetermined

obligated to make payments for a portion of postretirement

rate. Also, this new formula applies to all new employees hired

beneﬁts related to retirees of Praxair’s former parent. Additionally,

into businesses adopting this plan. U.S. pension plan assets are

as part of the CBI acquisition in 1996, Praxair assumed responsi-

comprised of a diversiﬁed mix of investments, including domestic

bility for health care and life insurance beneﬁt obligations for

and international corporate equities, government securities and

CBI’s retired employees. All postretirement health care programs

corporate debt securities. Pension coverage for employees of

have cost caps that limit the company’s exposure to future cost

certain of Praxair’s international subsidiaries generally is provided

increases. In addition, as part of the election made for July 1,

by those companies through separate plans. Obligations under

2002, all current employees were given the choice of maintaining

such plans are primarily provided for through diversiﬁed investment

coverage in retirement under the current plan, or to move to a

portfolios, with some smaller plans provided for under insurance

plan whereby coverage would be provided, but with no Praxair

policies or by book reserves.

subsidy whatsoever. Also, all new employees hired into a business

Praxair’s U.S. packaged gases business has a deﬁned

adopting these plans will not receive a company subsidy. Praxair

contribution plan. Company contributions to this plan are calcu-

does not currently fund its postretirement beneﬁts obligations.

lated as a percentage of salary based on age plus service.

Praxair retiree plans may be changed or terminated by Praxair at

Praxair’s U.S. healthcare business sponsors a deﬁned contribution

any time for any reason with no liability to current or future retirees.

plan which provides for a matching contribution as well as a
company contribution that is not dependent on employee contributions. In both plans, U.S. employees may supplement the company
contributions up to the maximum allowable by IRS regulations.
Certain international subsidiaries of the company also sponsor
deﬁned contribution plans where contributions are determined
under various formulas. The cost for these deﬁned contribution
plans was $9 million in 2004, $8 million in 2003 and $7 million in
2002 (not included in the tables that follow).
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Praxair uses a measurement date of December 31 for the
majority of its pension and other postretirement beneﬁt plans.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

The components of net pension and OPEB costs for 2004, 2003 and 2002 are shown below:
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
Year Ended December 31,

Pensions
2003

2004

2002

2004

OPEB
2003

2002

Net Benefit Cost

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on assets
Net amortization and deferral

$33
85
(91)
10

$30
79
(82)
(1)

$30
73
(86)
(2)

$ 6
16
—
(3)

$ 6
18
—
(5)

$ 4
16
—
(3)

Net periodic benefit cost

$37

$26

$15

$19

$19

$17

The changes in projected beneﬁt obligation (PBO) and plan assets and the funded status reconciliation as of December 31, 2004 and
2003 for Praxair’s signiﬁcant pension and OPEB programs are shown below:
Pensions
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
Year Ended December 31,

2004
U.S.

2003
INTL

U.S.

OPEB
INTL

2004

2003

Change in Benefit Obligation (PBO)

Benefit obligation, January 1
Service cost
Interest cost
Participant contributions
Actuarial loss (gain)
Benefits paid
Curtailment / settlement (gains)
Currency translation

$ 994
23
63
—
83
(45)
—
—

$318
11
22
1
23
(17)
(1)
30

$ 901
21
61
—
54
(43)
—
—

$246
8
17
—
23
(15)
(1)
40

$ 265
6
16
8
7
(29)
—
3

$ 254
5
17
7
2
(26)
–
6

Benefit obligation, December 31

$1,118

$387

$ 994

$318

$ 276

$ 265

Fair value of plan assets, January 1
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Benefits paid (funded plans only)
Currency translation

$ 644
66
110
(39)
—

$319
24
9
(17)
31

$ 518
138
25
(37)
—

$230
58
9
(14)
36

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

–
–
–
–
–

Fair value of plan assets, December 31

$ 781

$366

$ 644

$319

$

—

$

–

Funded status, December 31
Unrecognized (gains) losses net
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized transition amount

$ (337)
293
(5)
—

$ (21)
40
3
1

$(350)
220
(5)
—

$

1
11
4
1

$(276)
35
—
—

$(265)
28
(4)
–

Net amount recognized, December 31

$

(49)

$ 23

$(135)

$ 17

$(241)

$(241)

Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued benefit liability
Intangible assets
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

$

—
(272)
—
223

$ 72
(68)
1
18

$

$ 67
(55)
—
5

$ –
(241)
—
—

$ –
(241)
–
–

Net amount recognized, December 31

$

(49)

$ 23

$(135)

$ 17

$(241)

$(241)

$1,118
$1,053
$ 781

$246
$223
$142

$ 994
$ 927
$ 644

$200
$180
$117

N/A
N/A
N/A

$
76
$1,053

$ 13
$352

$ (16)
$ 927

$ 3
$284

Change in Plan Assets

Funded Status Reconciliation

Amounts in the Balance Sheet

—
(282)
—
147

Pension Plans with an Accumulated Benefit
Obligation in Excess of Plan Assets

Projected benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation (ABO)
Fair value of plan assets

N/A
N/A
N/A

Other Information

Increase/(decrease) in minimum liability included in
other comprehensive income
Accumulated benefit obligation (ABO)

$

—
N/A

$

–
N/A
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Pensions
U.S.

INTL

OPEB

2004

2003

2004

2003

2004

2003

5.85%
3.00%

6.25%
3.25%

5.50%
3.00%

6.00%
3.25%

5.85%
N/A

6.25%
N/A

6.25%
3.25%
8.50%

6.75%
3.75%
8.50%

6.00%
3.25%
7.75%

6.25%
3.25%
8.00%

6.25%
N/A
N/A

6.75%
N/A
N/A

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit
obligations at December 31,

Discount rate
Rate of increase in compensation levels
Weighted average assumptions used to determine net
periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31,

Discount rate
Rate of increase in compensation levels
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets (a)
(a)

For 2005, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets will be 8.5% for the U.S. plans. Expected weighted average returns for international plans will vary. These rates
are determined annually by management based on a weighted average of current and historical market trends, historical performance and the portfolio mix of investments.

Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31,

OPEB
2005

Health care cost trend assumed
9.00%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline
(the ultimate trend rate)
5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate
2008

2004

10.00%
5.00%
2008

These health care cost trend rate assumptions have an
impact on the amounts reported. However, cost caps limit the

the effect, a one-percentage point change in assumed health care
cost trend rates would have the following effects:
(MILLIONS

One-Percentage Point
Increase
Decrease

OF DOLLARS)

Effect on the total of service and interest cost
components of net OPEB benefit cost
Effect on OPEB benefit obligation

$1
$3

$(1)
$(3)

impact on the net OPEB beneﬁt cost in the U.S. To illustrate

Pension Plan Assets

Praxair’s U.S. and international pension plans’ weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the target
allocation for 2005, by asset category are as follows:
Target

Asset Category

Equity securities
Debt securities
Real estate
Other (b)

(a)

60% – 80%
20% – 40%
0%
0%

(a)

Equity securities do not include any Praxair common stock.

(b)

Primarily consists of cash equivalents and short-term investments.
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U.S.
2004

66%
33%
0%
1%

2003

69%
31%
0%
0%

Target

44%
54%
1%
1%

INTL
2004

44%
54%
1%
1%

2003

61%
37%
1%
1%

The investments of the U.S. pension plan are managed to
meet the future expected beneﬁt liabilities of the plan over the long

20.

COMMITMENTS

AND

CONTINGENCIES

term by investing in diversiﬁed portfolios consistent with prudent

The company accrues liabilities for contingencies when manage-

diversiﬁcation and historical and expected capital market returns.

ment believes that a loss is probable and the amount can be

When Praxair became an independent publicly traded company in

reasonably estimated. In the event any losses are sustained in

1992, its former parent retained all liabilities for its term-vested and

excess of these accruals, they will be charged to income at

retired employees. Praxair’s plan received assets and retained

that time. Commitments represent obligations such as those for

pension liabilities for its own active employee base. Therefore, the

future purchases of goods or services that are not yet recorded

liabilities under the Praxair U.S. pension plan mature at a later date

on the company’s balance sheet as liabilities. The company

compared to pension funds of other similar companies. Investment

records liabilities for commitments when incurred (e.g. when

strategies are reviewed by the board of directors and investment

the goods or services are received).

performance is tracked against appropriate benchmarks.

Praxair is subject to various lawsuits and government

The international pension plans are managed individually

investigations arising out of the normal course of business.

based on diversiﬁed investment portfolios, with different target

These actions are based upon alleged environmental, tax and

asset allocations that vary for each plan.

antitrust claims, among others. While Praxair may incur a loss
in connection with some of these actions, management does not

Contributions

anticipate that they will have a material adverse effect on the

Pension contributions were $119 million in 2004 and $34 million

company’s consolidated ﬁnancial position, results of operations

in 2003. Estimates of 2005 contributions are in the range of

or cash ﬂows in any given year.

$80 million to $85 million, of which $6 million is required. As of

Among such matters are claims brought by welders alleging

February 21, 2005, contributions of $59 million were paid to

that exposure to manganese contained in welding fumes caused

Praxair’s U.S. Pension Plans.

neurological injury. Praxair has never manufactured welding
consumables. Such products were manufactured prior to 1985 by

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

a predecessor company of Praxair. As of December 31, 2004,

The following table presents estimated future beneﬁt payments,

Praxair was a co-defendant with many other companies in 725

net of participant contributions:

lawsuits alleging personal injury caused by manganese contained

(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
Year Ended December 31,

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010 – 2014

Pensions
U.S.
INTL

$ 49
$ 52
$ 55
$ 59
$ 62
$383

$20
$18
$19
$17
$18
$96

in welding fumes. The cases were pending in state and federal
OPEB

$ 24
$ 24
$ 24
$ 24
$ 24
$117

courts in Iowa, Illinois, Mississippi, Missouri, Texas, Louisiana,
Georgia, West Virginia, Ohio, Arkansas, Indiana, Utah,
Pennsylvania, Minnesota, Alabama, Massachusetts and Virginia.
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There were a total of 10,159 individual claimants in these

Unconditional purchase obligations of $410 million represent

cases. Two cases are class actions which have not been certiﬁed.

contractual commitments under various long- and short-term,

All of the cases ﬁled in or removed to federal courts have been

take-or-pay arrangements with suppliers and are not included on

(or are in the process of being) transferred by the Judicial Panel for

Praxair’s balance sheet. These obligations are primarily minimum

Multidistrict Litigation to the U.S. District Court for the Northern

purchase commitments for electricity, natural gas and feedstock

District of Ohio for coordinated pretrial proceedings. The plaintiffs

used to produce atmospheric gases, carbon dioxide and hydrogen.

seek unspeciﬁed compensatory and, in most instances, punitive

During 2004, payments under these contracts totaled $479 million,

damages. In the past, Praxair has either been dismissed from the

including $227 million for electricity and $192 million for natural

cases with no payment or has settled a few cases for nominal

gas. A signiﬁcant portion of these risks is passed on to customers

amounts. Praxair believes that it has meritorious defenses to these

through similar take-or-pay contractual arrangements. Purchase

cases and intends to defend itself vigorously.

obligations which are not passed along to customers do not

The following table sets forth Praxair’s material commitments

represent a signiﬁcant risk to Praxair. In addition, Praxair enters

and contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004 excluding

into contracts to purchase products and services that do not

debt, leases, OPEB and long-term pension obligations (see Notes

have minimum purchase provisions.

5, 14, and 19):
(MILLIONS

Construction commitments of $381 million represent
outstanding commitments to customers or suppliers to complete

OF DOLLARS)

Expiring through
December 31,

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

authorized construction projects as of December 31, 2004.

Unconditional
Purchase
Obligations

Construction
Commitments

Guarantees
and Other

$117
70
41
33
32
117

$231
136
14
—
—
—

$43
1
2
—
—
14

$410

$381

$60

A signiﬁcant portion of Praxair’s capital spending is related to
the construction of new production facilities to satisfy customer
commitments which may take a year or more to complete.
Guarantees and other of $60 million include $6 million
related to minimum pension contributions and $54 million related
to Praxair’s contingent obligations under guarantees of certain
debt of unconsolidated afﬁliates. Unconsolidated equity investees
had total debt of approximately $193 million at December 31,
2004, which was non-recourse to Praxair with the exception of the
guaranteed portions described above. Praxair has no ﬁnancing
arrangements with closely-held related parties.
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2 1.
(DOLLAR
2004

QUARTERLY

DATA

(UNAUDITED)

AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Sales
Cost of sales
Depreciation and amortization
Operating profit
Net income

1Q

$
$
$
$
$

2Q

3Q

1,531
908
139
260
164

$
$
$
$
$

1,603
966
140
274
175

$
$
$
$
$

$
0.50
326,394

$

0.54
325,786

$

0.49
331,573

$
0.53
330,897

1Q

2Q

4Q

1,674
1,019
145
280
177

$
$
$
$
$

$

0.54
326,447

$

$

YEAR

1,786
1,094
154
289
181

$
$
$
$
$

6,594
3,987
578
1,103
697

0.56
324,936

$

2.14
325,891

0.53
331,919

$
0.55
330,851

$

2.10
331,403

3Q

4Q

Basic Per Share Data

Net income
Weighted average shares (000’s)
Diluted Per Share Data

Net income
Weighted average shares (000’s)
2003

Sales
Cost of sales
Depreciation and amortization
Operating profit
Net income

YEAR

$
$
$
$
$

1,337
804
122
215
130

$
$
$
$
$

1,401
833
127
223
150

$
$
$
$
$

1,414
832
133
240
150

$
$
$
$
$

1,461
859
135
244
155

$
$
$
$
$

5,613
3,328
517
922
585

$

0.40
325,762

$

0.46
326,688

$

0.46
326,430

$

0.47
326,672

$

1.79
326,388

$

0.39
329,270

$

0.45
330,850

$

0.45
330,990

$

0.47
331,966

$

1.77
330,991

Basic Per Share Data (a)

Net income
Weighted average shares (000’s)
Diluted Per Share Data (a)

Net income
Weighted average shares (000’s)
(a)

Earnings per share and weighted average shares outstanding have been adjusted, where applicable, to reflect the December 15, 2003 two-for-one stock split which was
effected as a stock dividend (see Note 1).
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Management’s Statement of Responsibility
for Financial Statements
Praxair’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements are prepared by

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over

management, which is responsible for their fairness, integrity and

Financial Reporting

objectivity. The accompanying ﬁnancial statements have been

Praxair’s management is responsible for establishing and

prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally

maintaining adequate internal control over ﬁnancial reporting,

accepted in the United States of America applied on a consistent

as such term is deﬁned in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the

basis except for accounting changes as disclosed and include

supervision and with the participation of management, including

amounts that are estimates and judgments. All historical ﬁnancial

the company’s principal executive ofﬁcer and principal ﬁnancial

information in this annual report is consistent with the accompany-

ofﬁcer, the company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness

ing ﬁnancial statements.

of its internal control over ﬁnancial reporting based on the

Praxair maintains accounting systems, including internal

framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by

accounting controls, monitored by a staff of internal auditors, that

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

are designed to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability

Commission (often referred to as COSO). Based on this evalua-

of ﬁnancial records and the protection of assets. The concept of

tion, management concluded that the company’s internal control

reasonable assurance is based on recognition that the cost of a

over ﬁnancial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.

system should not exceed the related beneﬁts. The effectiveness

Praxair’s evaluation did not include the internal control

of those systems depends primarily upon the careful selection

over ﬁnancial reporting relating to two acquisitions in 2004:

of ﬁnancial and other managers, clear delegation of authority and

the purchase of certain industrial gas assets and related busi-

assignment of accountability, inculcation of high business ethics

nesses in Germany (German Acquisition) and the purchase of

and conﬂict-of-interest standards, policies and procedures for

Home Care Supply, Inc. (HCS), a U.S. home-healthcare business.

coordinating the management of corporate resources, and the

Total sales and assets for the German Acquisition represent 0.3%

leadership and commitment of top management. In compliance

and 7.4% and for HCS represent 1.4% and 2.6%, respectively,

with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, effective

of the related consolidated ﬁnancial statement amounts as of and

in 2004 Praxair assessed its internal control over ﬁnancial

for the year ended December 31, 2004 (see Note 3 to the

reporting and issued a report (see below).

consolidated ﬁnancial statements on page 47).

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the

public accounting ﬁrm, has completed an integrated audit of

company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December

Praxair’s 2004 consolidated ﬁnancial statements and of its internal

31, 2004 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,

control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and

an independent registered public accounting ﬁrm, as stated in

audits of its 2003 and 2002 consolidated ﬁnancial statements in

their report appearing on page 65.

accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) as stated in their report appearing
on page 65.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which
consists solely of non-employee directors, is responsible for

DENNIS H. REILLEY

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

overseeing the functioning of the accounting system and related
controls and the preparation of annual ﬁnancial statements.
The Audit Committee periodically meets with management, internal
auditors and the independent accountants to review and evaluate
their accounting, auditing and ﬁnancial reporting activities and

JAMES S. SAWYER

responsibilities, including management’s assessment of internal

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

control over ﬁnancial reporting. The independent registered
public accounting ﬁrm and internal auditors have full and free
access to the Audit Committee and meet with the committee,
with and without management present.
PATRICK M. CLARK

Vice President and Controller
Danbury, Connecticut
February 21, 2005
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Praxair, Inc.:

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have completed an integrated audit of Praxair, Inc.’s 2004

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in

consolidated ﬁnancial statements and of its internal control over

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial

ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and audits of its

Reporting appearing on page 64 of the 2004 Annual Report to

2003 and 2002 consolidated ﬁnancial statements in accordance

Shareholders, that the company maintained effective internal

with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004

Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits,

based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated

are presented below.

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly

Consolidated Financial Statements

stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

Furthermore, in our opinion, the company maintained, in all

and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’

material respects, effective internal control over ﬁnancial

equity and cash ﬂows present fairly, in all material respects,

reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria estab-

the ﬁnancial position of Praxair, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December

lished in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by

31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and

COSO. The company’s management is responsible for main-

their cash ﬂows for each of the three years in the period ended

taining effective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting

December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles

and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control

generally accepted in the United States of America. These ﬁnancial

over ﬁnancial reporting. Our responsibility is to express

statements are the responsibility of the company’s management.

opinions on management’s assessment and on the effective-

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these ﬁnancial

ness of the company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting

statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of

based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control

these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public

over ﬁnancial reporting in accordance with the standards of the

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit

reasonable assurance about whether the ﬁnancial statements

to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal

are free of material misstatement. An audit of ﬁnancial statements

control over ﬁnancial reporting was maintained in all material

includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the

respects. An audit of internal control over ﬁnancial reporting

amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial statements, assessing

includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over

the accounting principles used and signiﬁcant estimates made

ﬁnancial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment,

by management, and evaluating the overall ﬁnancial statement

testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness

presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable

of internal control, and performing such other procedures

basis for our opinion.

as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation of
ﬁnancial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over ﬁnancial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reﬂect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of ﬁnancial statements in
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accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the ﬁnancial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded certain
industrial gas assets and related businesses in Germany (German
Acquisition) and Home Care Supply, Inc. from its assessment of
internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004
because they were acquired by the company in purchase business
combinations during 2004. We have also excluded the German
Acquisition and Home Care Supply, Inc. from our audit of internal
control over ﬁnancial reporting. Total sales and assets for the
German Acquisition represent 0.3% and 7.4% and for Home
Care Supply, Inc. represent 1.4% and 2.6%, respectively, of the
related consolidated ﬁnancial statement amounts as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2004.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Stamford, Connecticut
February 21, 2005
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Five-Year Financial Summary
(DOLLAR

AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

2001(a)

2000(a)

From the Income Statement

Sales
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Research and development
Other income (expenses) – net
Operating profit
Interest expense
Income before taxes
Income taxes

$6,594
3,987
869
578
77
20
1,103
155
948
232

$5,613
3,328
766
517
75
(5)
922
151
771
174

$5,128
2,950
751
483
69
48
923
206
717
158

$5,158
3,060
699
499
66
(34)
800
224
576
135

$5,043
3,075
683
471
65
(42)
707
224
483
103

Minority interests
Income from equity investments
Income before cumulative effect of accounting changes
Cumulative effect of accounting changes (b)
Net income
Add back goodwill amortization, net of tax
Net income excluding goodwill amortization (c)

716
(30)
11
697
—
697
—
$ 697

597
(24)
12
585
—
585
—
$ 585

559
(20)
9
548
(139)
409
—
$ 409

441
(18)
9
432
(2)
430
33
$ 463

380
(27)
10
363
—
363
29
$ 392

$ 2.14
$ 2.14
—
$ 2.14

$ 1.79
$ 1.79
—
$ 1.79

$ 1.68
$ 1.26
—
$ 1.26

$ 1.34
$ 1.33
0.10
$ 1.43

$ 1.14
$ 1.14
0.09
$ 1.23

$ 2.10
$ 2.10
—
$ 2.10
$ 0.60

$ 1.77
$ 1.77
—
$ 1.77
$ 0.46

$ 1.66
$ 1.24
—
$ 1.24
$ 0.38

$ 1.32
$ 1.31
0.10
$ 1.41
$ 0.34

$ 1.13
$ 1.13
0.09
$ 1.22
$ 0.31

325,891
331,403

326,388
330,991

325,536
329,489

323,020
327,014

318,246
322,185

Per Share Data (d)

Basic earnings per share:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting changes
Net income
Add back goodwill amortization, net of tax
Net income excluding goodwill amortization (c)
Diluted earnings per share:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting changes
Net income
Add back goodwill amortization, net of tax
Net income excluding goodwill amortization (c)
Cash dividends per share
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (000’s) (d)

Basic shares outstanding
Diluted shares outstanding
Other Information and Ratios

Total debt
Capital expenditures and acquisitions (e)
Cash flow from operations
Cash flow from operations-to-debt ratio
Total assets at year end
Return on equity (f)
After-tax return on capital (f)
Debt-to-capital ratio (f)
Shares outstanding at year-end (000’s) (d)
Number of employees

$3,525
$2,816
$ 2,748
$2,989
$3,141
$1,597
$1,056
$ 611
$ 808
$ 994
$1,243
$1,137
$1,001
$1,020
$ 899
35.3%
40.4%
36.4%
34.1%
28.6%
$9,878
$8,305
$ 7,401
$ 7,715
$ 7,762
20.8%
21.6%
22.8%
21.6%
21.9%
12.5%
12.8%
13.4%
12.7%
12.5%
47.9%
46.2%
52.3%
53.1%
55.5%
323,621
326,086
324,536
324,286
318,758
27,020
25,438
25,010
24,271
23,430

(a)

In 2001, operating profit includes a $70 million pre-tax charge ($57 million after tax, or $0.17 per diluted share) related to restructuring and other actions (shown $7 million
in cost of sales; $5 million in selling, general and administrative expenses; and $58 million in other income (expense) – net). In 2000, operating profit includes a $159 million pre-tax charge and income from equity investments includes a $2 million charge ($117 million after tax, or $0.36 per diluted share) related to repositioning and special
charges (shown $47 million in cost of sales; $21 million in selling, general and administrative expenses; and $91 million in other income (expenses) – net). These items are
collectively referred to as special items.
(b)
2002 and 2001 net income include the cumulative effect of accounting changes relating to the implementation of new accounting standards for goodwill impairment and
derivatives, respectively.
(c)
Adjusted net income excludes amortization of goodwill prior to 2002 (see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements).
(d)
Per share data, weighted average and total shares outstanding have been adjusted, where applicable, to reflect the December 15, 2003 two-for-one stock split which was
effected as a stock dividend (see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements).
(e)
Capital expenditures and acquisitions in 2004 include the acquisition of HCS in June for $245 million and the German Acquisition in December for $667 million (see Note 3
to the consolidated financial statements). Capital expenditures and acquisitions for 2003 include the purchase of previously leased assets for $339 million (see Note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements).
(f)
Non-GAAP measure. See the Appendix on page 68 for definitions and reconciliation to reported amounts.
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Appendix
The company presents the following non-GAAP ﬁnancial

Return on Equity

measures on the inside front cover and pages 36-38 and 67

Return on equity is deﬁned as income before accounting changes,

of this annual report:

excluding special items and goodwill amortization, divided by

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT
Year ending December 31,
2004

After-tax return on capital
Return on equity
Debt-to-capital

12.5%
20.8%
47.9%

average shareholders’ equity. Praxair’s deﬁnition of return on equity

PER SHARE DATA)

2003

2002

2001

2000

12.8%
21.6%
46.2%

13.4%
22.8%
52.3%

12.7%
21.6%
53.1%

12.5%
21.9%
55.5%

may not be comparable to similar deﬁnitions used by other
companies. The company believes that its return on equity is an
appropriate measure for judging performance for shareholders.
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)
Year ending December 31,
2004

After-Tax Return on Capital

be comparable to similar deﬁnitions used by other companies.

Adjusted income before
accounting change (a)
Beginning shareholders’
equity
Ending shareholders’
equity
Average shareholders’
equity
Return on equity

The company believes that its after-tax return on invested capital is

(a)

After-tax return on capital is deﬁned as after-tax operating
proﬁt plus income from equity investments, divided by average
capital, and excluding special items. Capital is comprised of
total debt, minority interests, shareholders’ equity and preferred
stock. Praxair’s deﬁnition of after-tax return on capital may not

an appropriate measure for judging performance as it reﬂects the
approximate after-tax proﬁt earned as a percentage of investments
by all parties in the business (debt, minority interest, preferred
stock, and shareholders’ equity).
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)
Year ending December 31,
2004

2003

2002

2001

2003

2002

2001

2000

$ 697

$ 585

$ 548

$ 522

$ 509

$3,088

$2,340

$ 2,477

$2,357

$2,290

$3,608

$3,088

$2,340

$2,477

$2,357

$3,348 $2,714 $2,409 $2,417 $2,324
20.8% 21.6% 22.8% 21.6% 21.9%

Reported income before accounting changes for 2001 of $432 million has been
adjusted to $522 million from the add-back of $33 million of goodwill amortization and $57 million of special items relating to restructuring and repositioning charges, net of their related tax impact. Reported income before accounting
changes for 2000 of $363 million has been adjusted to $509 million from
the add-back of $29 million of goodwill amortization and $117 million of special
items relating to restructuring and repositioning charges, net of their related
tax impact. See footnote (a) under the Five Year Financial Summary on page 67
for further details about the special items.

2000

Adjusted operating profit
$1,103 $ 922 $ 923 $ 908 $ 899
Less: reported taxes
(232)
(174)
(158)
(135)
(103)
Less: tax benefit on
interest expense (b)
(39)
(36)
(46)
(50)
(50)
Less: tax benefit on
goodwill amortization
–
—
—
(5)
(4)
Less: tax benefit on
special items
—
—
—
(13)
(44)
Add back: equity income
11
12
9
9
10
Add back: special items –
equity income
—
—
—
—
2
(a)

Net operating profit\
after tax (NOPAT)

$ 843

$ 724

$ 728

$ 714

$ 710

Beginning capital
$6,099 $5,252 $5,627 $5,656 $5,719
Ending capital (c)
$7,358 $6,099 $5,252 $5,627 $5,656
Average capital
$6,729 $5,676 $5,440 $5,642 $5,688
After-tax return on capital (c, d) 12.5% 12.8% 13.4% 12.7% 12.5%
Reported operating profit for 2001 of $800 million has been adjusted to $908 million from the add- back of $38 million of goodwill amortization and $70 million
of special items relating to restructuring and repositioning charges. Reported operating profit for 2000 of $707 million has been adjusted to $899 million from the
add-back of $33 million of goodwill amortization and $159 million of special items
relating to restructuring and repositioning charges. See footnote (a) under the Five
Year Financial Summary on page 67 for further details about the special items.
(b)
Tax benefit on interest expense is computed using the effective rate adjusted for
non-recurring income tax benefits and charges. The effective rates used were as
follows: 2004, 25%; 2003, 24%; 2002, 22%; 2001, 22%; and 2000, 22%.
(c)
2003 ending capital includes the impact of the purchase of previously leased
assets for $339 million (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).
Consequently, after-tax return on capital was reduced by 0.4% for 2003 and 0.8%
thereafter.
(d)
After-tax return on capital was reduced by 0.6% in 2004 due to the German
Acquisition in December (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements).
(a)
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Debt-to-Capital

Debt-to-capital is deﬁned as debt divided by total capital.
Total capital consists of debt, minority interests, preferred stock
and shareholders’ equity. Praxair’s deﬁnition of debt-to-capital may
not be comparable to similar deﬁnitions used by other companies.
The company believes that debt-to-capital is appropriate for
measuring its ﬁnancial leverage.
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)
Year ending December 31,
2004

Total capital
Debt
Minority interests
Preferred stock
Shareholders’ equity
Debt-to-capital ratio

2003

2002

2001

2000

$3,525
225
—
3,608

$2,816
195
—
3,088

$ 2,748
164
—
2,340

$2,989
141
20
2,477

$3,141
138
20
2,357

$7,358

$6,099

$5,252

$5,627

$5,656

47.9%

46.2%

52.3%

53.1%

55.5%

Investor Information
ELIZABETH T. HIRSCH,

Director, Investor Relations

Stock Transfer Agent and Stock Record Keeping

Praxair, Inc.

Registrar and Transfer Company is Praxair’s stock transfer agent

39 Old Ridgebury Road

and registrar, and maintains shareholder records. For information

Danbury, Connecticut 06810-5113

about account records, stock certiﬁcates, change of address and

e-mail: investor_relations@praxair.com

dividend payments, contact:

(203) 837-2210

1-800-368-5948
e-mail address for investor inquiries: info@rtco.com

Investor Information at www.praxair.com/investors

website address: http://www.rtco.com

Contact information

SEC ﬁlings

Address shareholder inquiries to:

Stock information

Governance

Shareholder Relations Department

Business trends

Sustainability Report

Registrar and Transfer Company

Presentations

FAQs

10 Commerce Drive

Annual reports

Five-year ﬁnancial summary

Cranford, New Jersey 07016

Quarterly earnings

Financial news

Earnings Guidance

Annual shareholders meeting

The 2005 annual meeting of shareholders of Praxair, Inc. will be
Common Stock Listing (symbol: PX)

held at 9:30 a.m. on Tuesday, April 26, 2005 at the Sheraton

New York Stock Exchange

Danbury, 18 Old Ridgebury Road, Danbury, Connecticut.

Other Stock Exchanges Trading Praxair Stock

NYSE quarterly stock price and dividend information

Cincinnati

Stock prices and dividends have been restated to reﬂect the

Midwest

December 15, 2003 two-for-one stock split (see Note 1 to the

Paciﬁc

consolidated ﬁnancial statements).

Number of Shareholders

There were 22,617 registered shareholders of record as of

Market Price

December 31, 2004.

2004

Dividend Policy

Dividends on Praxair’s common stock are usually declared and
paid quarterly. Praxair’s objective is to continue quarterly dividends
and consider annual dividend increases in conjunction with
continued growth in earnings per share.

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Trading High Trading Low

Close

Dividend
Per Share

$38.76
$40.14
$43.03
$46.25

$34.52
$34.80
$37.59
$40.73

$37.12
$39.91
$42.74
$44.15

$
$
$
$

0.15
0.15
0.15
0.15

$30.07
$31.95
$32.90
$38.26

$25.02
$27.95
$29.34
$31.15

$28.18
$30.05
$30.98
$38.20

$0.1075
$0.1075
$0.1075
$0.1350

$30.56
$30.20
$29.30
$29.75

$23.98
$25.75
$22.28
$24.59

$29.90
$28.49
$25.56
$28.89

$
$
$
$

2003

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
2002

Dividend reinvestment plan

Praxair provides investors a convenient, low-cost program that
allows purchases of Praxair stock without commissions and
automatically reinvests dividends by purchasing additional shares

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

0.095
0.095
0.095
0.095

of stock. Contact Shareholder Relations at Registrar and Transfer
Company for full details at the address above.

Praxair and the Flowing Airstream design, AOD, CoJet, Grab ‘n Go, I-SO,
MixFlo, Medipure, StarSolver and UpTime are trademarks or registered
trademarks of Praxair Technology, Inc. in the United States and/or
other countries.
© Copyright 2005 Praxair Technology, Inc. All rights reserved.
DESIGN:

SVP Partners, Wilton, CT

PHOTOGRAPHY:

Ted Kawalerski, NY
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MANAGEMENT
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Technologies
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SCOTT W. KALTRIDER,
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MICHAEL J. ALLAN,
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THEODORE F. TRUMPP III,
DANIEL H. YANKOWSKI,

Vice President, Financial Services
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DOMINGOS H.G. BULUS,

Vice President & Controller

THEODORE W. DOUGHER,

JAMES J. FUCHS,

President, Praxair Asia

President, North American Industrial Gases &

President, Praxair Canada Inc.
Vice President, Mergers & Acquisitions

ROBERT F.X. FUSARO,
MARK F. GRUNINGER,

Senior Vice President &

STEVEN L. LERNER,

Managing Director, Praxair Mexico

North America — Packaged Gases
PATRICK M. HEFFERNAN,

Vice President, Canada

South America
MURILO MELO,

Vice President, Business – Hispanic Countries

ANTONIO CESAR,

Vice President, Base Business

MARCELO PEREIRA QUINTAES,

Vice President, Industrial

Vice President, On-Site Business

MARCOS L. BARRETO,

Vice President, Electronics

President, Praxair Europe

RANDY S. KRAMER,

Managing Director, Praxair Canada

EDUARDO F. MENEZES,

Vice President, Operations

Excellence & Supply Systems
MICHAEL J. DOUGLAS,

Vice President, South U.S.

President, Praxair South America &

President, White Martins Gases Industriais Ltda.
PATRICK M. CLARK,

ROBERT HOSSACK,

Vice President, East U.S.

Vice President, Marketing

SCOTT K. SANDERUDE,

M. MELISSA BUCKWALTER,

Vice President, North U.S.

Chief Technology Officer

Europe
MIGUEL MARTINEZ ASTOLA,

Managing Director,

Western Europe, Spain & Portugal

SUNIL MATTOO,

Vice President, Strategic Planning & Marketing

EDUARDO GIL,

Managing Director, Praxair Germany

NIGEL D. MUIR,

Vice President, Communications &

FRANCO MAZZALI,

Managing Director, Italy & Middle East

Public Relations
GEORGE P. RISTEVSKI,
SALLY A. SAVOIA,

S. MARK SEYMOUR,
WAYNE J. YAKICH,

Vice President, Healthcare

Vice President, Human Resources
Vice President, Tax

President, Praxair Distribution, Inc.
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DAVID H. CHOW,

President, Praxair China

K.H. LEE, PRESIDENT,
JOHN M. PANIKAR,

Praxair Korea

Managing Director, Praxair India

KITTI PRAPASUCHART,
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Managing Director, Praxair Thailand

Board of Directors

Financial Highlights
(DOLLAR

AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Year Ended December 31,

Sales

2004

2003

2002

$6,594

$5,613

$5,128

Operating profit

$1,103

$ 922

$ 923

Net income (a)

$ 697

$ 585

$ 409

Diluted earnings per share (a)

$ 2.10

$ 1.77

$ 1.24

Cash flow from operations

$1,243

$1,137

$1,001

Capital expenditures

$ 668

$ 983

$ 498

Other Information and Ratios
(b)

After-tax return on capital (c)

12.5%

12.8%

13.4%

Return on equity

20.8%

21.6%

22.8%

(c)

(a)

Net income and diluted earnings per share for 2002 include a charge related to the adoption of SFAS No. 142 of $139 million, or $0.42 per share.
Additionally, diluted earnings per share for 2002 have been adjusted to reflect the December 15, 2003 two-for-one stock split. See Notes 1 and 2 to
the consolidated financial statements..

(b)

Capital expenditures for 2003 include the purchase of previously leased assets for $339 million (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

(c)

After-tax return on capital and return on equity are non-GAAP measures defined and reconciled in the Appendix on page 68. After-tax return on capital
was reduced
consolidated financial statements).

Captions from left
to right, beginning with
top row.

CLAIRE

W.

GARGALLI

DENNIS

Director of various corporations; former Vice Chairman,

H.

REILLEY

Chairman, President & Chief Executive Ofﬁcer, Praxair, Inc.

Diversiﬁed Search Companies
Diluted Earnings Per Share (a)

Sales

•

Reported

•

Adjusted

$2.50

$7,000

�������������������������

After-Tax Return on Capital (c)

Finance & Pension (Chairman); Compensation & Management

WAYNE

•

Development Committees

Chairman, President & Chief Executive Ofﬁcer,

Reported

•

Adjusted

SMITH

Community Health Systems, Inc.
IRA

15%

������

T.

D.

Audit; Governance & Nominating Committees

HALL

Senior Advisor to Utendahl Capital Management, L.P.
Governance & Nominating; Finance & Pension Committees

$6,000
$2.00

MITCHELL

WATSON,

JR.

President, Sigma Group of America

12%

������

H.

RONALD

$5,000

L.

KUEHN,

Audit (Chairman); Governance & Nominating Committees

JR.

Chairman, El Paso Corporation
$1.50

$4,000

9%

����

Compensation & Management Development (Chairman);

ROBERT

Finance & Pension Committees

Chairman, President & Chief Executive Ofﬁcer,

L.

WOOD

Crompton Corporation

$3,000

$1.00

RAYMOND

6%

����

W.

Audit; Finance & Pension Committees

LEBOEUF

Chairman & Chief Executive Ofﬁcer, PPG Industries, Inc.
$2,000

Audit; Compensation & Management Development
$0.50

Committees

3%

����

$1,000
G.

JACKSON

RATCLIFFE,

JR.

Director of various corporations; former Chairman,
02

03

04

02

03

04

��

��

��

02

03

04

Hubbell Incorporated
Executive Session Presiding Director
Governance & Nominating (Chairman); Compensation &
Management Development Committees
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